# South Georgia State College



# Student Handbook 2025-2026

Updated 8/15/25

# MISSION

South Georgia State College supports students in achieving their academic and professional goals by providing high quality associate and baccalaureate degree programs in an affordable, accessible, and supportive learning environment.

# **VISION**

South Georgia State College will be the best choice for higher education in southeast Georgia, dedicated to affordability, student success, and innovative programs that prepare graduates for advanced studies and professional careers while driving regional economic growth.

# **VALUES**

South Georgia State College embraces the tradional values of Higher Education as set forth by the University System of Georgia – Integrity, Excellence, Accountability and Respect. To accomplish its vision, SGSC also identifies the following LEAD core values:

**Leadership** – acting to achieve shared goals around core values.

**Engagement** – facilitating close interaction between students, faculty, staff and community partners.

**Affordability** – emphasizing efficiency and effectiveness to provide a quality education and to achieve an affordable degree.

**Diversity** – creating a collegial environment comprised of people of diverse backgrounds.

# **ACCREDITATION STATEMENT**

South Georgia State College is accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC) to award associate and baccalaureate degrees. South Georgia State College also may offer credentials such as certificates and diplomas at approved degree levels. Questions about the accreditation of South Georgia State College may be directed in writing to the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges at 1866 Southern Lane, Decatur, GA 30033-4097, by calling (404) 679-4500, or by using information available on SACSCOC's website (<a href="https://www.sacscoc.org/">https://www.sacscoc.org/</a>).

Normal inquiries about South Georgia State College (SGSC), such as admission requirements, financial aid, and educational programs, should be addressed directly to SGSC, not the SACSCOC office.

SACSCOC is the regional accrediting body for colleges and universities in 11 Southern states and Latin America for higher education institutions. It is recognized by both the Council for Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA) and the U.S. Department of Education. Accreditation by SACSCOC signifies that the institution.

- Has a mission appropriate to higher education,
- Possesses resources, programs, and services sufficient to accomplish and sustain that mission,
- Maintains clearly specified educational objectives that are consistent with its mission and appropriate to the degrees it offers, and
- Demonstrates success in achieving its stated objectives

SACSCOC accreditation allows SGSC to maintain eligibility for state and federal funds, including student financial aid through the U.S. Department of Education. Accreditation is important for the acceptance and transfer of college credits. A degree from an accredited undergraduate institution is a standard prerequisite for admission to most graduate programs.

#### **ACCREDITATION HISTORY**

South Georgia College, Douglas, Georgia (accredited by SACSCOC in 1934), merged with Waycross College, Waycross, Georgia (accredited by SACSCOC in 1978), to form South Georgia State College in 2012. SACSCOC's reaffirmation of accreditation was granted in 2016.

#### ADDITIONAL ACCREDITATIONS

# **Nursing**

The Associate of Science in Nursing (ASN) and Bachelor of Science in Nursing (RN-BSN) programs are approved by the Georgia Board of Nursing. The contact information is listed below.

Georgia Board of Nursing 237 Coliseum Drive Macon, GA 31217

Telephone: (844)753-7825

Website: <a href="https://sos.ga.gov/georgia-board-nursing">https://sos.ga.gov/georgia-board-nursing</a>

The associate nursing program at South Georgia State College at the Waycross Campus located in Waycross, Georgia, and the associate and baccalaureate (RN-BSN) nursing programs at South Georgia State College at the Douglas Campus located in Douglas, Georgia, are accredited by the Accreditation Commission for Education in Nursing (ACEN), 3390 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 1400, Atlanta, GA 30326, (404) 975-5000. The most recent accreditation decision made by the ACEN Board of Commissioners for the associate and baccalaureate (RN-BSN) nursing programs is Continuing Accreditation.

View the public information disclosed by the ACEN regarding these programs at https://www.acenursing.org/search-programs

The contact information is listed below:

Accreditation Commission for Education in Nursing (ACEN) 3390 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 1400 Atlanta, GA 30326

Telephone: (404) 975-5000

Website: https://www.acenursing.org/

# **Elementary/Special Education**

The South Georgia State College Bachelor of Science Elementary/Special Education program is approved by the Georgia Professional Standards Commission.

The contact information is listed below:

Georgia Professional Standards Commission West Tower, 200 Piedmont Ave SE, Suite 1716 Atlanta, GA 30334

Telephone: (404) 232-2500

Website: <a href="https://www.gapsc.com/">https://www.gapsc.com/</a>

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	8
ACADEMIC AFFAIRS	9
STUDENT SUCCESS CENTERS	9
APPEAL OF A GRADE	9
CORRECTION OF EDUCATION RECORDS	11
DISCLOSURE OF EDUCATION RECORDS	12
ENTRY PROGRAM AT VALDOSTA	13
FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT	13
GRADUATION	14
INTELLECTUAL DIVERSITY AND ACADEMIC FREEDOM	14
LIBRARY SERVICES	15
TRANSCRIPTS	15
STUDENT AFFAIRS	16
COUNSELING SERVICES	16
ALCOHOL AND DRUG PREVENTION PROGRAM	17
DISABILITY SERVICES	17
CLUBS AND ORGANIZATIONS	18
CAMPUS DISPLAYS/PROPERTY DAMAGE	19
DISORDERLY CONDUCT/LAW VIOLATIONS FOR ORGANIZATIONS OR CLUBS	19
DISTRIBUTION OF STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS	19
ELIGIBILITY FOR MEMBERSHIP/OFFICER STATUS	20
FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY	20
FORMING A NEW STUDENT ORGANIZATION	20
FUNDRAISING FOR STUDENT ORGANIZATIONS	21
GOOD STANDING FOR CLUBS AND ORGANIZATIONS	21
POSTING POLICY	22
REVIEW AND ENFORCEMENT OF REGULATIONS	23
SCHEDULING CAMPUS ACTIVITIES	24
SPECIAL EVENTS	24
STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION	24
STUDENT ORGANIZATION INFORMATION REQUIRED BY STUDENT ENGAGEMENT	25

STUDENT PUBLICATIONS	25
CODE OF CONDUCT	26
RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES FOR STUDENTS	26
STUDENT CODE OF CONDUCT	27
SEXUAL MISCONDUCT	35
HAZING/MAX GRUVER ACT	43
COLLEGE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	44
ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION	44
CAMPUS SOLICITATION	44
CAMPUS VISITORS	44
CHILDREN ON CAMPUS	45
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT & EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITY	45
FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION POLICY	45
RISK MANAGEMENT/ASSUMPTION OF RISK	45
SMOKING POLICY	45
STUDENT EQUITY CONCERNS	46
STUDENT VOTING PRIVILEGES	46
TECHNOLOGY RESOURCES POLICIES FOR STUDENTS	46
WRITTEN STUDENT COMPLAINTS	46
IMPORTANT INFORMATION	47
ATHLETICS	47
CAMPUS ALERT SYSTEM	47
CAMPUS BOOKSTORE	47
CAMPUS RECREATION	47
FINANCIAL AID AND SCHOLARSHIPS	48
FOOD SERVICES	48
FOUNDATION SCHOLARSHIPS	48
IDENTIFICATION CARDS	48
INTRAMURALS	49
JOB PLACEMENT	49
ORIENTATION	49

RESIDENCE LIFE & HOUSING	49
STUDENT ACTIVITIES	50
STUDENT EMAIL	50
STUDENT HEALTH INSURANCE AND HEALTH FEE	
VEHICLE REGISTRATION	
VETERANS AFFAIRS	

# INTRODUCTION

This is the official student handbook of South Georgia State College. This online publication is your resource for student and academic support services, and college policies and procedures.

It is your responsibility to become aware of the handbook content. By enrolling at this institution, you agree to comply with all rules and regulations.

Some academic policies have been printed in this handbook. Students should consult the College Catalog at <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/academics/college-catalog">https://www.sgsc.edu/academics/college-catalog</a> for questions concerning academic policies and regulations.

The College reserves the right to alter or change the regulations and policies stated in this handbook through clearly defined channels.

This handbook is prepared for the convenience of students, faculty and staff at SGSC and is not to be construed as an official publication of the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia. In case of any divergence from or conflict with the Bylaws and Policies of the Board of Regents, the official Bylaws and Policies of the Board of Regents shall prevail.

This handbook is for informational purposes only.

# **ACADEMIC AFFAIRS**

# STUDENT SUCCESS CENTERS

Student Success provides integrated services to support students through their academic journey and enhance their college experience. Our team focuses on assisting students in achieving their goals and preparing for the future. Each unit in Student Success works collaboratively to facilitate referrals and provide a supportive environment where students can thrive.

SGSC has established a Student Success Center on each campus to provide services in the form of peer tutoring, supplemental materials, and programs that address all aspects of learning to support students' matriculation, continued enrollment, personal and professional development, and career preparation.

The Douglas campus offers a Student Success Center in Powell Hall, Room 103. In the Dye Building on the Waycross campus, the Student Success Center is located in Suite 141. Student Success attempts to provide hours of operation that work around students' academic schedules. For more information, visit https://www.sgsc.edu/academics/student-success

For students in need of assistance outside of normal operating hours, through a partnership with tutor.com, Student Success offers free, 24/7 online tutoring that connects students one-to-one with a live tutor. This tutoring service can be accessed from any internet-enabled computer by signing into <a href="GeorgiaView">GeorgiaView</a>. For more information visit <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/academics/tutoring">https://www.sgsc.edu/academics/tutoring</a>

All tutoring is free to currently enrolled SGSC students.

# **APPEAL OF A GRADE**

Students who think that they have been graded unfairly must appeal the grade at issue in writing within 30 days after the last day of the final examination period for the semester in which the grade was assigned. (The written appeal follows step 1 below and must be addressed to the Chair/Dean of the Division or School, signed by the student, and delivered or postmarked within the 30-day limit.) Because the appeal of a grade is an in-house procedure, and not a court of law, no legal counsel or any other person may be present other than the persons specifically mentioned in each step below. Exceptions to this may be granted by the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs only for the following reasons: (1) a student has disabilities

requiring extraordinary assistance; or (2) a student's first language is not English and is not sufficiently fluent in English to allow him/her to represent himself/herself adequately. In these cases, the appointment will be left to the discretion of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs. The steps in the process are as follows:

- 1. The student will discuss the grade with the instructor involved.\* This meeting should occur within three weeks of the last day of the final examination period for the semester in which the grade was assigned. The majority of grade disputes are resolved at this step.
- 2. In the rare case that the dispute is not resolved in step 1, the student must file a written appeal to the Division Chair or Dean of the School within 30 days after the last day of the final examination period for the semester in which the grade was assigned. Only the final course grade may be appealed. Individual assignment grades are to be addressed with the instructor as needed throughout the semester and are not subject to appeal. The letter should clearly address the basis for the appeal which must be grounded in one of the following situations:
  - a. Computational or clerical error by the instructor.
  - b. Bias on the part of the instructor resulting in a negative impact on the student's grade.
  - c. The grading was arbitrary or capricious.

Within two weeks of receipt of the written appeal, the Division Chair or the Dean of the School will meet with the student and the instructor to resolve the difficulty. A memorandum of records will be prepared that will include the substance of the conversation during the meeting.

- 3. If the difficulty remains unresolved, a divisional review board will be appointed by the Division Chair or the Dean of the School to hear the student's appeal. The review board will meet to hear the appeal no later than two weeks after step two above.
  - 1) There will be three members of this board, to be chaired by the Division Chair or the Dean of the School.
  - 2) The instructor involved will not be a member of this board.
  - 3) In small divisions, the membership of the board may come from outside the division.
  - 4) If the charge of unfair grading is made against a Division Chair or the Dean of the School, the review board will be appointed by the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs, who will serve as its chair.
  - 5) The review board shall hear statements from both the student and the instructor involved and will examine documents that are pertinent to the matter under review.\*\*

- 6) A record will be kept of the review board's proceedings.
- 7) The findings of the review board will be reported to the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs, along with a recommendation. The decision of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs shall be submitted to the student in writing within seven days.
- 4. The decision of the VPASA regarding grades is final.

\*In the unlikely event that the student cannot locate the instructor, the student will submit a written appeal directly to the Division Chair or Dean. The Division Chair or Dean will make a reasonable attempt to locate the instructor. If the instructor is not available, the Division Chair or the Dean will send reliable notice to the instructor (e.g., via certified mail) notifying the instructor that the appeal will proceed on a specified date no sooner than ten days from the sending of the notification. On the specified date, the Division Chair or the Dean of the School will meet with the student as specified in Step 2, with or without the instructor present.

\*\*If the instructor cannot be present before the review board, the student will present his or her case to the review board, and the board will make a recommendation to the VPASA.

# **CORRECTION OF EDUCATION RECORDS**

Students have the right to ask to have records corrected that they believe are inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of their privacy rights. The procedures for the correction of education records are as follows:

- A student must ask the appropriate record custodian to amend a record. In doing so, the student should identify in writing the part of the record to be changed and specify what is inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of his or her privacy or other rights.
- South Georgia State College may comply with the request or decide based on the
  evidence not to comply. If it decides not to comply, South Georgia State College will
  notify the student of the decision and advise the student of the right to a hearing to
  challenge the information believed inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of the
  student's rights.
- Upon written request, South Georgia State College will arrange for a hearing and notify the student, in reasonable advance, of the date, place, and time of the hearing.
- The hearing will be conducted by a hearing officer who is a disinterested party; however, the hearing officer may be an official of the College. The student shall be afforded a full and fair opportunity to present evidence relevant to the issues raised in the original request to amend the student's education records. The student may be assisted by one or more individuals, including an attorney.

- South Georgia State College will prepare a written decision based solely on the evidence presented and the reasons for the decision.
- If South Georgia State College decides that the challenged information is not inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of the student's rights, it will notify the student of the right to place in the record a statement commenting on the with the decision.
- The statement will be maintained as part of the student's education records as long as the contested portion is maintained. If South Georgia discloses the contested portion of the record, it must also disclose the statement.
- If South Georgia State College decides that the information is inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of the student's right of privacy, it will amend the record and notify the student in writing that the record has been amended.

# **DISCLOSURE OF EDUCATION RECORDS**

South Georgia State College will disclose information from a student's record only with the written consent of the student, except:

- To College officials who have a legitimate educational interest in the educational records. A College official is a) A person employed by the College in an administrative, supervisory, academic, research, or support staff position; b) the Chancellor of the University System of Georgia and his staff; or c) a person employed by or under contract to South Georgia State College to perform a special task, such as an attorney or auditor. A College official has a legitimate educational interest if the official is a) performing a task that is specified in his or her position description or by contract agreement; b) performing a task related to a student's education; c) performing a task related to the discipline of a student; d) providing a service or benefit relating to the student or the student's family, such as health care, counseling, job placement, or financial aid.
- To certain officials of the U.S. Department of Education, the Comptroller General, and state and local education authorities, in connection with certain state or federally supported education programs.
- To comply with student's application for or receipt of financial aid, as necessary to determine the eligibility, amount, or conditions of the financial aid, or to enforce the terms and conditions of the aid.
- To comply with state law requiring disclosure that was adopted before November 19, 1974.
- To organizations conducting certain studies on behalf of SGSC.
- To accrediting organizations to carry out their functions.

- To parents of an eligible student who claim the student as a dependent for income tax purposes.
- To comply with a judicial order or lawfully issued subpoena.
- To appropriate parties during a health or safety emergency.

# **ENTRY PROGRAM AT VALDOSTA**

South Georgia State College administers an Entry Program on the campus of Valdosta State University in Valdosta. Students enrolled in this program apply to and, upon admission, are South Georgia State College students. Enrollment, advisement, fees, records, financial aid, and related matters are administered through South Georgia State College. SGSC students on this campus pay tuition and related fees to SGSC and fees required by the host institution that permit access to facilities and services and participation in most extracurricular activities. Entry Program students are subject to the code of conduct of the host campus. More information regarding the Entry Program at VSU is available on the SGSC website: <a href="http://www.sgsc.edu/academics/entry-programs-partnerships.cms">http://www.sgsc.edu/academics/entry-programs-partnerships.cms</a>

# FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT

South Georgia State College informs students of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974. This act, as amended, stipulates that any student, regardless of age, who is or has been in attendance at an institution of postsecondary education, has the right to inspect and review his or her educational records within a reasonable period of time (not to exceed 45 days) after making a request for such review. In addition, this act was designed to protect the privacy of educational records and to provide guidelines for the correction of inaccurate or misleading data through informal and formal hearings. Students also have the right to file complaints with The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act Office (FERPA) concerning alleged failures by the institution to comply with the act. South Georgia State College is in full compliance with the provisions of that legislation.

# **Directory Information**

Although student records are considered confidential under this act, an exception is provided for directory information. Directory information, which may be released to the public at large, includes the following:

- Student's name
- Major field of study
- Enrollment status (e.g., full-time, part-time)
- Participation in officially recognized activities and sports
- Dates of attendance

- Degrees, honors, and awards received
- The most recent educational institution attended
- Height and weight of athletes
- Class level

Further FERPA information is available through the Registrar's Office in Engram Hall and at this Department of Education website: <a href="https://studentprivacy.ed.gov/ferpa">https://studentprivacy.ed.gov/ferpa</a>

# **GRADUATION**

The primary source of information about academic rules and requirements for graduation is the SGSC Catalog. You may access information by going to <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/academics/college-catalog">https://www.sgsc.edu/academics/college-catalog</a>. Refer to that resource and confer regularly with your advisor. Each student is responsible for complying with the academic regulations stated in the catalog.

# INTELLECTUAL DIVERSITY AND ACADEMIC FREEDOM

The University System of Georgia and South Georgia State College subscribe to the American Council on Education's statement of Academic Rights and Responsibilities. This statement includes important provisions about intellectual diversity and academic freedom. In addition to links on the SGSC website, copies of this statement are available in the Office of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs. Failure on the part of faculty and staff to honor the commitment to intellectual diversity and academic freedom is a legitimate reason for a student to file a grievance. These excerpts from the American Council on Education's statement of Academic Rights and Responsibilities offer specific expectations of classroom behavior for faculty and students:

- Colleges and universities should welcome intellectual pluralism and the free exchange of ideas. Such a commitment will inevitably encourage debate over complex and difficult issues about which individuals will disagree. Such discussions should be held in an environment characterized by openness, tolerance and civility.
- Academic decisions including grades should be based solely on considerations that are intellectually relevant to the subject matter under consideration. Neither students nor faculty should be disadvantaged or evaluated on the basis of their political opinions.
- Any member of the campus community who believes he or she has been treated unfairly
  on academic matters must have access to a clear institutional process by which his or her
  grievance can be addressed.
- The validity of academic ideas, theories, arguments and views should be measured against the intellectual standards of relevant academic and professional disciplines.

Application of these intellectual standards does not mean that all ideas have equal merit. The responsibility to judge the merits of competing academic ideas rests with colleges and universities and is determined by reference to the standards of the academic profession as established by the community of scholars at each institution.

# LIBRARY SERVICES

The William S. Smith Library and the Waycross campus Library are the learning resources centers for South Georgia State College, blending traditional and electronic library resources and services to support the educational programs of the College. The Libraries play a crucial role in students' college life whether they are used for research class work, independent study, or personal enjoyment. The SGSC Libraries website provides 24/7 access to its resources and services. The website also provides more detailed information about resources, services, and policies of the Library. Comfortable accommodations are provided for use of the facility and physical collections with seating for collaborative and individual learning, study carrels, study tables, and small group study rooms. Networked computer workstations are located throughout the facility, and students may print to two library printers through their WEPA printing accounts. A microform reader-printer and photocopier equipment are also available. Library hours will vary during exams, semester breaks, holidays, and summer terms. Changes in scheduled library hours are posted at the Library and on the Library's website. The SGSC ID Card, which serves as the student's library card, is required to check out materials from the South Georgia State College libraries and other USG libraries.

# **TRANSCRIPTS**

Current and former SGSC students must order official transcripts online. The cost per transcript is \$10.00. Additional charges may apply depending on the method of delivery chosen.

# To order a transcript, choose one of the following options:

Do you have access to your Banner Web account? If yes, choose **Option A**.

# **Option A**

Log in to Banner Web (https://www.sgsc.edu/quicklinks/banner-web).

Click on "Order Official Transcript" in the Student Information section.

If you do not have access to your Banner Web account, choose **Option B**.

# **Option B**

Navigate to <u>Parchment</u> (<u>https://www.parchment.com/u/registration/35378616/institution</u>) and enter your order. You can use either your Social Security Number **or** SGSC Student ID number (i.e. 988XXXXXX).

# **STUDENT AFFAIRS**

# **COUNSELING SERVICES**

Uwill - Part of the University System of Georgia Mental Health Initiative

The University System of Georgia has launched a program to expand mental health resources. South Georgia State College has joined with them to offer its students access to the help and support needed while trying to navigate the changes and challenges many face. Uwill gives students free immediate access to teletherapy, a direct crisis connection, and wellness programming through its easy to use online <u>platform</u>.

# Teletherapy:

- Students can schedule an immediate teletherapy <u>appointment</u> with a licensed counselor based on needs and preferences.
  - o Choose a therapist based on immediacy, gender, language, focus area
  - Select a time that works best, with day, evening and weekend appointments.
- Create your <u>profile</u> and get started in minutes.

# **Crisis Support:**

- If a student is experiencing a mental health crisis, Uwill provides a direct connection to a licensed counselor trained in trauma
- Help is available 24/7/365 by calling **833.646.1526**
- If you need to list international number, do so here
- If you are having a medical emergency, please call 911.

# Wellness:

- Students can access free on-demand <u>wellness</u> programming on the will platform.
- Select wellness from the left navigation.

 Relax & recharge your mind and body with yoga, meditation, mindfulness, and more!

At this time, South Georgia State College does not have an in-person counselor on either of its' campuses.

# ALCOHOL AND DRUG PREVENTION PROGRAM

South Georgia State College's alcohol and drug prevention program is designed to promote personal health and success in college. The College conducts a biennial review to ensure compliance with the Drug-Free Schools and Communities Act. Consistent with federal and state laws, South Georgia State College is a drug-free workplace. Students receive alcohol and drug information through campus publications and during college orientation programs and campus activities. Related issues are actively explored through courses including health, psychology, sociology, nursing, and criminal justice. Alcohol and drug counseling referrals are available to all SGSC students. Information regarding local, state, or federal laws related to alcohol and drug violations and penalties is published in the South Georgia State College Public Safety Information booklet. This booklet contains Student's Right to Know/Annual Security Report. The booklet is online at: http://www.sgsc.edu/departments/weapons%20on%20campus.cms

# **DISABILITY SERVICES**

All students with a documented disability or students that suspect they have a disability are strongly encouraged to register with the Office of Disability Services at the time of making application. Students must self-identify in order to pursue academic accommodations. System accommodations require approval from the Regents Center for Learning Disorders. Upon approval, students are responsible for requesting the Coordinator for Disability and Testing Services for Student Success' assistance in working with the faculty to devise reasonable classroom accommodations based on the recommendations from RCLD. Students with questions and/or needs relating to disability services may contact Coordinator for Disability and Testing Services for Student Success Stanley Sinkfield at <a href="mailto:stanley.sinkfield@sgsc.edu">stanley.sinkfield@sgsc.edu</a>, 912-260-4435 (Douglas) or 912-449-7589 (Waycross). For more information, visit <a href="mailto:https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/disability-services">https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/disability-services</a>

Students who feel that a decision by an Office of Disability Services (ODS) staff member or faculty member does not fully comply with federal disability legislation should follow the appropriate procedure as outlined below:

Students should first meet with the ODS Coordinator and attempt to resolve the problem informally. It is anticipated that most questions will be resolved in this way. However, situations unresolved at the ODS Coordinator's level may be appealed to the Dean of Students and Housing

for Student Success (DOS). The DOS will meet with the student in an attempt to resolve the complaint. If the student is not satisfied with the decision of the DOS, the DOS will assist the student in appealing to the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs (VPASA). The VPASA will meet with the student in an attempt to resolve the complaint. If the student is not satisfied with the decision of the VPASA, the student will be referred to the ADA Compliance Office, the President and ultimately to the Board of Regents.

# **CLUBS AND ORGANIZATIONS**

SGSC's student organizations exist to assist students in their personal and professional development. These groups have been recognized by Student Engagement at SGSC and are eligible for funding through the Student Fees Committee. Additional organizations may be created to reflect students' emerging interests.

The following organizations are currently active at South Georgia State College. Contact information for the organizations' advisors may be found at <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/clubs-and-organizations">https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/clubs-and-organizations</a>.

- Academic Quiz Team
- Academic Success Organization
- African-American Male Initiative (AAMI)
- Baptist Collegiate Ministry (BCM)
- Book Chat Club
- Business Club
- Campus Activities Board (CAB)
- Cultural Exchange Club
- Environmental Awareness Club
- Fellowship of Christian Athletes (FCA)
- Gaming Club
- Gay-Straight Alliance (GSA)
- Georgia Association of Nursing Students (GANS)
- Intramural Sports
- Microbiology and Community Health (MACH)
- Phi Theta Kappa Honor Society (PTK)
- Pre-Medical Club
- Spanish Club
- Speech and Debate Club
- Student Government Association (SGA)

• Theatre Company

# **CAMPUS DISPLAYS/PROPERTY DAMAGE**

Displays, including but not limited to posters, notices, or banners, which litter the campus or damage the property of the College or of other persons, that are obscene, or which materially interfere with the regular and orderly operation of the College, are prohibited. Unauthorized or malicious damage to the property of the College or other persons or entities resulting from organization activities is prohibited and the student organization shall be responsible for all damages.

# DISORDERLY CONDUCT/LAW VIOLATIONS FOR ORGANIZATIONS OR CLUBS

Organization activities which encourage or precipitate riots or other disturbances which materially interfere with the regular and orderly operation of the College are prohibited. No organization shall commit, encourage, condone, or contribute to violations of College statutes and regulations, the policies of the Board of Regents, or laws of Georgia or the United States. The possession or consumption of alcoholic beverages or illegal substances on college property or at events sponsored or supervised by the College (including off-campus College student organization functions) is prohibited.

# **DISTRIBUTION OF STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS**

Student activity funds will be distributed on the basis of how directly the activity or organization benefits the student body as a whole, the number of students participating in an activity/organization, and the availability of funds. Funds will not be allocated for scholarships or non-student groups or individuals except when paid for a service.

Organizations requesting funds must be officially recognized by the College and be in good standing. The clubs must have completed the required up-date forms throughout the year and the Request for Student Activity Funds Form by the designated date during spring term.

The Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success will then review the requests. The Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success will bring the requests to the Student Activity Fee Budget Committee (SAFBC). According to University System of Georgia policy, at least 50% of the membership of the SAFBC will consist of currently enrolled students. After approval, the student activity budget will then be sent to the Board of Regents' for final approval. Any organization's student activity allotment may be revised any time throughout the year depending upon campus enrollment or other extenuating circumstances.

# **ELIGIBILITY FOR MEMBERSHIP/OFFICER STATUS**

Active membership in student organizations shall be confined to regularly enrolled students enrolled in three or more term hours. A student must maintain a 2.0 cumulative grade point average or higher to be eligible to serve as an officer of a student organization (although some organizations may have higher standards).

# FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY

Use of allocated student activity monies must conform to the purposes and practices approved by South Georgia State College. Organizations shall carry on business transactions and contractual relations with punctual and timely discharge of valid obligations and prudent use of funds. All organization monies will be placed on deposit in the Office of Fiscal Affairs.

# FORMING A NEW STUDENT ORGANIZATION

Student organizations on the South Georgia State College campus reflect the student body's varied interests. The College views participation in extracurricular activities as an important component of overall educational growth and development. Students desiring to form a new organization are to take the following steps:

- 1. Discuss plans with the Coordinator for Student Engagement and Success in order to clarify the procedure. Obtain necessary forms from Student Engagement.
- 2. Secure at least ten (10) currently enrolled South Georgia State College students interested in becoming active organization members.
- 3. Appoint a temporary chairperson and secretary to conduct and record proceedings of initial meetings.
- 4. Write and ratify a tentative constitution. Guidelines are available from Student Engagement.
- 5. Select a faculty or staff advisor. The advisor must be a full-time college employee unless approved by the Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success.
- 6. Submit a tentative constitution and Application for New Student Organizations to Student Engagement.

The Coordinator for Student Engagement and Success will review the constitution. If there is doubt, the Coordinator for Student Engagement and Success will forward the document to the Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success. The Coordinator for Student Engagement and Success will contact the ad hoc Constitution Review Committee and arrange a meeting between the committee and temporary club chairperson. The Constitution Review Committee shall consist of the Coordinator for Student Engagement and Success as chairperson, the President of the Student Government Association and two members of the faculty as appointed

by the College President from a list of five names submitted by the Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success. A presentation of oral and documentary evidence may be requested. A recording and transcript of the hearing shall be made and preserved for use in appeals and reviews. Recognition shall be granted only to those organizations whose purpose and proposed activities are clearly related to the educational goals and mission of the College. Recognition shall be denied if the evidence presented shows that the proposed organization has substantial likelihood of interfering with any of the following: the regular and orderly operation of the College; the requirements of appropriate discipline within the campus activities; the academic pursuits of teaching, learning and other campus activities; the laws of public policies of the State of Georgia and the United States; the statues and regulations of the College and policies of the Board of Regents. If the Coordinator for Student Engagement and Success or the committee disapproves recognition, the organization may appeal the decision to the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs, who shall review the same and affirm, reverse, or modify the decision. Should the Coordinator for Student Engagement and Success or the Constitution Review Committee not approve the constitution due to irregularities, it will be sent back to the organization's temporary chairperson for further work.

# **FUNDRAISING FOR STUDENT ORGANIZATIONS**

Student organizations may supplement monies received through student activities fees with approved fundraisers. All student fundraising activities on campus must be approved in advance by the Dean of Students and the Vice President for Fiscal Affairs. The Dean of Students determines if the fundraising function is in accord with the approved activities of the organization and the College. The Vice President for Fiscal Affairs will ensure that the fundraising function does not present unfair competition to the College Bookstore, Food Services, or local businesses. All money raised by organizations must be accounted for and expended in the same manner as other student activities money. Forms for fundraising requests may be obtained from the Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success. Please contact the Cashier's Office about setting up an account to deposit the funds raised.

# **GOOD STANDING FOR CLUBS AND ORGANIZATIONS**

For an organization to remain in good standing, it may not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, mental status, or physical disability in the administration and operation of all its activities/programs and must adhere to the following:

1. The secretary must keep minutes of each meeting and distribute a copy to the advisor. It is also encouraged, but not required, to distribute the minutes to the organizational membership and Student Engagement.

- 2. The treasurer of the organization is responsible for keeping accurate records of all receipts and expenditures. The organization must adhere to the proper college fiscal procedures.
- 3. Organization activities must be cleared and approved by Student Engagement. Forms should be submitted at least five working days prior to the scheduled event. Events must be approved before promotion.

Student organizations in good standing with the college have the following rights:

- A. To use the name of the institution ("South Georgia State College") when referring to its' organization.
- B. To use college facilities and equipment subject to the Board of Regents' Policies and to college regulations governing the use of facilities and equipment and to reasonable scheduling and clearance of particular facilities.
- C. To be eligible to receive student activity monies subject to the Board of Regents' policies and to College regulations governing allocations of student activity fees.

# **POSTING POLICY**

All publicity and promotional material for on and off-campus events and activities, including but not limited to: posters, notices, and banners must be approved by the Coordinator of Student Engagement. All publicity and promotional material must carry the name of the sponsoring organization or individual responsible for the event or activity. Signs and flyers should not contain lewd or offensive words, symbols, or pictures.

All approved materials must be posted in approved locations only. These approved locations include designated bulletin boards/strips and campus kiosks. No signs or flyers are to be posted on the building exterior walls or glass. Signs and flyers should not impair the safety of traffic or pedestrians.

The use of chalk to promote or publicize an event must be approved by the Coordinator of Student Engagement. If approved, designated locations will be assigned.

Materials should be removed immediately after the advertised event has occurred.

Any material posted in unapproved locations or otherwise not in compliance with these regulations will be removed. South Georgia State College's input as to the relocation and timing of posting advertisements may be required in certain circumstances. SGSC reserves the right to remove, or to request the removal of, any signs/posters/advertisements and the student organization/individual may be restricted from further postings.

#### REVIEW AND ENFORCEMENT OF REGULATIONS

The Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success shall periodically review the activities of all student organizations to determine if they are acting in compliance with college regulations. Charges of violations of college regulations may be brought up against any recognized organization and shall be heard by the Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success at their discretion by the ad hoc Constitution Review Committee. The Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success or the Committee may request the presentation of oral and documentary evidence at the hearing prepared.

The Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success or the Committee may recommend to the President any one or any combination of the following penalties upon an organization after consideration of the evidence presented at the hearing:

- 1. Restriction of all or any privileges enjoyed as a recognized student organization.
- 2. Monetary fines, withholding or withdrawal of allocated student activity monies.
- 3. Restitution for damages.
- 4. Probation of recognized status.
- 5. Suspension of recognized status.
- 6. Withdrawal of recognized status.

The President will then approve or disapprove the recommendation. Any organization may appeal the imposition of any penalty to the President of the College, who shall review the action and affirm, reverse, or modify the same. The appeal and review shall be in such form as the President may require. The President may use the services of an existing or ad hoc committee in deciding the issues involved. The President's decision may result in, but is not limited to, the following:

- Probation Notice to the organization that any further major irregularities may result in suspension or withdrawal. The probationary period is for one full year from time of notice; or
- 2. Suspension Forced withdrawal from the College for a specified period, though not less than for one semester. The organization is not eligible for any rights given for recognized status during time of suspension; or
- Withdrawal Forced closing of the club/organization.

Upon notice, the President of the College may review the recognition of any student organization or any decision on disciplinary charges against any student organization and make whatever final disposition of the matter he/she deems necessary for the best interests of the College.

#### **SCHEDULING CAMPUS ACTIVITIES**

Any student organization planning a campus activity, meeting, rehearsal, or performance will observe the following procedures:

- 1. Approval for the activity must be obtained from the organization's advisor and Student Engagement. No event is to be scheduled during final exams.
- 2. Campus facilities, including space needed for meetings, must be reserved by the group's advisor by submitting a help desk ticket via the College's website. If catered refreshments are required, contact Aladdin Campus Dining at 912-720-4825.
- 3. Events should be scheduled at least two weeks in advance.
- 4. Chaperones and security must be provided for each activity, with a two-week prior notice. College rules/regulations governing students, staff, and guests are applicable to all activities.
- 5. After-hours access to campus buildings for meetings, rehearsals, and other events requires the presence of an advisor or another faculty or staff member.
- 6. The sponsoring organization and the individuals in attendance will be held accountable for the conduct of all those attending the event. Failure to follow the above procedures can result in postponement or cancellation of the event. Any activity which, in the judgment of the advisor and/or administration, does not adhere to South Georgia College standards is subject to immediate termination.

# **SPECIAL EVENTS**

Each semester, special events and activities are scheduled by Student Engagement. These activities may include concerts, trips, speakers, films, club showcase days, or recreational activities. Activities are offered at times where both residential and commuter students have opportunities for participation.

# STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION

The South Georgia State College Student Government Association establishes and maintains communication between students and the College's administration and faculty. It cultivates and preserves the ideals of responsible citizenship on campus and helps to create an atmosphere of learning. Each student is encouraged to address requests, questions, complaints, or suggestions to Student Government Association representatives, appropriate faculty members, or administrators. All officially enrolled South Georgia State College students may attend Student Government Association meetings. Please see Appendix A for the South Georgia State College Student Government Association Constitution.

# STUDENT ORGANIZATION INFORMATION REQUIRED BY STUDENT ENGAGEMENT

Organizations must submit a list of officers to Student Engagement within seven (7) days after each election. A copy of the student organization and bylaws and all subsequent amendments thereto must be kept on file with Student Engagement.

Forms required by college policy and procedure (Scheduling Facilities Form, Vehicle Usage Form, Departmental Request Form, Request for Fund Raising Form) must be routed through Student Engagement. Advisors may contact Student Engagement for these forms.

# STUDENT PUBLICATIONS

Student organization publications shall not contain material which is obscene or defamatory (defined by the Code of Georgia, section 26-2101) or which may create substantial likelihood of material interference with the regular and orderly operation of the College. Student organization publications shall abide by the guidelines and policies established by the Student Services Committee.

Student publications will take various forms and be initiated based upon student interest. These publications may include, but are not limited to a college newspaper, an annual, and a literary magazine. Such publications' advisors are appointed by the President of the College upon recommendation by Dean of Students of Students and Housing for Student Success. Student editors or other principal staff members will be appointed by the President of the College upon recommendation of the advisor and Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success.

Financed in part by the student activity fee, these publications will serve the following roles:

- 1. Serve as an information exchange instrument for members of the college community.
- 2. Provide students an opportunity to express their opinions on matters of importance to them.
- 3. Serve to supplement other public relations activities of the College through their distribution in high schools, offices, or other community outlets.
- 4. Provide a means of recognizing the literary talents of students and faculty.
- 6. Provide an opportunity for students interested in journalism to gain practical experience in the field.

Student publications shall not contain material which is obscene or defamatory (defined by the Code of Georgia #26-2101), or which may create a substantial likelihood of material interference with the regular and orderly operation of the College. No student publication or portion thereof

shall be printed without the assistance of the publication's faculty advisor, who may request the assistance of the Student Services Committee in rendering a decision.

An individual may appeal the decision of the faculty advisor to the President of the College, who shall review the action and affirm, reverse, or modify the same. The President may utilize the services of the Student Services Committee or an ad hoc committee and make whatever final disposition of the matter she/he deems necessary for the best interests of the College.

There are currently no active student publications at South Georgia State College.

# **CODE OF CONDUCT**

# RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES FOR STUDENTS

The College seeks to create an orderly climate that promotes academic integrity, intellectual freedom, and individual thought and expression consistent with the rights of others. It is the obligation of the College to promote an educational environment by protecting the rights of all members of the college community and by prohibiting acts which interfere with the rights of others. Membership in the college community confers certain rights and imposes certain responsibilities. Students are expected to understand and exercise their rights, meet their responsibilities, and respect the rights of others. The College is expected to enforce these responsibilities and to afford these rights to students. The College will help students create a climate that promotes their development while not denying this opportunity to others. Upon their request, students have the right through their Student Government Association to be heard in matters that affect their rights and responsibilities. Students have the right to take stands on issues, to examine and discuss questions of interest, and to support legal causes by orderly means which do not disrupt college operations or interfere with the rights of others. Student publications and communications enjoy the rights inherent in the concept of freedom of expression. Individual students and organizations have the right to publish and distribute material on the campus provided that the materials are identified by the name of the student or organization. All publications shall be subject to the canons of responsible journalism, including the avoidance of defamation, indecency, obscenity, undocumented allegations, and harassment. All student organizations registered with Student Engagement may meet on college premises if they make reservations in accordance with the established rules and regulations for room and space reservation. Students and/or student groups may not make reservations in their names for outside groups or organizations to use college space. Only student organizations registered with Student Engagement have the right to invite persons of their choosing as speakers on college premises. The President of the College or the authorized representative may cancel a speaker's reservation where there is a clear and present danger to the orderly operation of the College.

Such cancellation shall be communicated to the sponsoring organization at the earliest opportunity. Students shall have the right to have their academic and disciplinary records kept confidential subject to existing law. Students have the right to due process when accused of any violations of college regulations or rules of conduct. This right shall include the following:

- right to a notice in writing of charges.
- right to admit the alleged violation, waive a hearing, and accept the College's action.
- right to admit the alleged violation but request a hearing.
- right to deny the alleged violation and request a hearing.
- right to remain silent.
- right to a fair hearing.
- right to appear in person at a hearing or not to appear.
- right to call witnesses and present evidence on their behalf.
- right upon request to a list of witnesses who will appear against them.
- right to confront and cross-examine witnesses and/or accusers who are present.
- right to request a copy of any available records or tape recording of a hearing if the offenses involve possible suspension or expulsion.
- right to appeal beyond the point of origin to the administrative officer, the Discipline Committee, then to the President of the College.

# STUDENT CODE OF CONDUCT

# 4.6.5 Standards for Institutional Student Conduct Investigation and Disciplinary Proceedings

This Policy establishes minimum procedural standards for investigations and resolutions of alleged student conduct violations, which each institution must incorporate into its respective student conduct policies. The purpose of this Policy is to ensure uniformity in the quality of investigations while providing for due process that affords fairness and equity in all student conduct investigations. This Policy is not intended to infringe or restrict rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution including free speech under the First Amendment, or the due process clauses of Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

These procedures apply to matters relating to student misconduct, except matters relating to academic dishonesty, which may be covered under separate institutional policies. Institutions shall inform students of their procedures governing student misconduct complaints and investigations. For the purposes of this Policy, the term Complainant means an individual who is alleged to be a victim of conduct that would violate any Board or other applicable institution policy. The term Respondent means an individual who is alleged to have engaged in behavior that would violate any Board or other applicable institution policy. Other individuals who report information to an institution regarding alleged policy violations are deemed Reporters. Institutions may establish to what extent the procedures outlined in this Policy may apply to Reporters.

# 4.6.5.1 Reports of Student Misconduct

Institutions must provide clear notice to students and other campus community members as to how to file complaints of misconduct. Complaints to the appropriate department and/or person(s) should include as much information as possible – such as: (1) the type of misconduct alleged; (2) the name and contact information of the individual(s) accused of misconduct; (3) the date(s), time(s), and place(s) of the misconduct; (4) the name(s) and contact information of any individual(s) with knowledge of the incident; (5) whether any tangible evidence has been preserved; and (6) whether a criminal complaint has been made. Information from complaints may be shared as necessary to investigate and to resolve the alleged misconduct. Complaints shall be investigated and resolved as outlined below. The need to issue a broader warning to the community in compliance with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act ("Clery Act") shall be assessed in compliance with federal law. Where appropriate, Complainants may file a law enforcement report as well as an institutional report, but are not required to file both.

# **Confidentiality:**

Where a Complainant (where applicable) requests that their identity be withheld or the allegation(s) not be investigated, the institution should consider whether or not such request(s) can be honored while still promoting a safe and nondiscriminatory environment for the institution and conducting an effective review of the allegations. The institution should inform the requesting party that the institution cannot guarantee confidentiality and that even granting requests for confidentiality shall not prevent the institution from reporting information or statistical data as required by law, including the Clery Act.

# **Retaliation:**

Anyone who has made a report or complaint, provided information, assisted, participated or refused to participate in any investigation or resolution under applicable Board or institution policy shall not be subjected to retaliation. Anyone who believes they have been subjected to retaliation should immediately contact the appropriate department or individual(s) for that institution. Any person found to have engaged in retaliation shall be subject to disciplinary action, pursuant to the institution's policy.

# **False Complaints/Statements:**

Individuals are prohibited from knowingly giving false statements to an institution official. Any person found to have knowingly submitted false complaints, accusations, or statements, including during a hearing, in violation of applicable Board or institution policy shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action (up to and including suspension or expulsion) and adjudicated pursuant to the institution's policy.

# Amnesty:

Students should be encouraged to come forward and report violations of the law and/or student code of conduct notwithstanding their choice to consume alcohol or drugs. Information

reported by a student during the conduct process concerning their consumption of drugs or alcohol will not be voluntarily reported to law enforcement; nor will information that the individual provides be used against the individual for purposes of conduct violations. Nevertheless, these students may be required to meet with staff members regarding the incident and may be required to participate in appropriate educational program(s). The required participation in an educational program under this amnesty procedure will not be considered a sanction. Nothing in this amnesty procedure shall prevent a university staff member who is otherwise obligated by law (the Clery Act) to report information or statistical data as required.

# 4.6.5.2 Process for Investigating and Resolving Disputed Reports

#### Jurisdiction:

Each institution shall take necessary and appropriate action to protect the safety and well-being of its community. Accordingly, student conduct should be addressed when such acts occur on institution property, at institution-sponsored or affiliated events, or otherwise violate the institution's student conduct policies, regardless as to where such conduct occurs. If the student has admitted responsibility and has voluntarily decided to participate in the informal process, the procedures outlined in this section will not apply.

# **Access to Advisors:**

The Respondent and Complainant (where applicable), as parties to these proceedings, shall have the right to have an advisor (who may or may not be an attorney) of the party's choosing, and at their own expense, for the express purpose of providing advice and counsel. The advisor may be present during meetings and proceedings during the investigatory and/or resolution process at which his or her advisee is present. The advisor may advise their advisee in any manner, including providing questions, suggestions, and guidance on responses to any questions posed to the advisee, but shall not participate directly during the investigation or hearing process.

# **Initial Evaluation of Student Conduct Reports:**

Regardless of how an institution becomes aware of alleged misconduct, the institution shall ensure a prompt, fair, and impartial review and resolution of complaints alleging student misconduct. Where a report of student misconduct has been made to the appropriate department and/or person, the institution shall review the complaint to determine whether the allegation(s) describes conduct in violation of the institution's policies and/or code of conduct. If the reported conduct would not be a violation of the institution's policies and/or code of conduct, even if true, then the report should be dismissed. Otherwise, a prompt, thorough, and impartial investigation, and review shall be conducted into each complaint received to determine whether charges against the Respondent should be brought.

Any report that involves allegation(s) of conduct that could lead to the suspension or expulsion of the Respondent(s) in an initial violation must be promptly reported to the System Director of Equity & Investigations ("System Director") by the institution. The System Director will work

with the institution to determine whether any interim measure(s) are necessary, to assign an investigator and may collaboratively supervise the investigation with the appropriate institution professional (e.g., the Title IX Coordinator, Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success). If an allegation is not initially identified as one that could lead to suspension or expulsion of the Respondent(s), but facts arise during the course of the investigation that would require notice to the System Director, then the institution shall report that case to the System Director or their designee prior to proceeding.

# **Interim Measures**

Interim measures may be implemented by the institution at any point after the institution becomes aware of the alleged student misconduct and should be designed to protect any student or other individual in the USG community. To the extent interim measures are imposed, they should minimize the burden on both the Complaint (where applicable) and the Respondent, where feasible. Interim measures may include, but are not limited to:

- 1. Change of housing assignment;
- 2. Issuance of a "no contact" directive;
- 3. Restrictions or bars to entering certain institution property;
- 4. Changes to academic or employment arrangements, schedules, or supervision;
- 5. Interim suspension; and
- 6. Other measures designed to promote the safety and well-being of the parties and the institution's community.

An interim suspension should only occur where necessary to maintain safety and should be limited to those situations where the respondent poses a serious and immediate danger or threat to persons or property. In making such an assessment, the institution should consider the existence of a significant risk to the health or safety of the Complainant (where applicable) or the campus community; the nature, duration, and severity of the risk; the probability of potential injury; and whether less restrictive means can be used to significantly mitigate the risk.

Before an interim suspension is issued, the institution must make all reasonable efforts to give the Respondent the opportunity to be heard on whether the Respondent's presence on campus poses a danger. If an interim suspension is issued, the terms of the suspension take effect immediately. The Respondent shall receive notice of the interim suspension and the opportunity to respond to the interim suspension. Within three business days of receiving a challenge, the institution will determine whether the interim suspension should continue.

# Investigation

Throughout any investigation and resolution proceedings, a party shall receive written notice of the alleged misconduct, shall be provided an opportunity to respond, and shall be allowed to remain silent or otherwise not participate in or during the investigation and resolution process without an adverse inference resulting. If a party chooses to remain silent or otherwise not participate in an investigation, the investigation may still proceed and policy charges may still result and be resolved. Timely and equal access to information that will be used during the investigation will be provided to the Complainant (where applicable) and Respondent.

Where the potential sanctions for the alleged misconduct may involve a suspension or expulsion (even if such sanctions were to be held "in abeyance," such as probationary suspension or expulsion), the institution's investigation and resolution procedures must provide the additional minimal safeguards outlined below.

- 1. The Complainant (where applicable) and Respondent shall be provided with written notice of the complaint/allegations, pending investigation, possible charges, possible sanctions, and available support services. The notice should also include the identity of any investigator(s) involved. Notice should be provided via institution email to the address on file.
- 2. Upon receipt of the written notice, the Respondent shall have at least three business days to respond in writing. In that response, the Respondent shall have the right to admit or to deny the allegations, and to set forth a defense with facts, witnesses, and supporting materials. A non-response will be considered a general denial of the alleged misconduct. Any Complainant (where applicable) shall also be provided three business days to respond to or to supplement the notice.
- 3. If the Respondent admits responsibility, the process may proceed to the sanctioning phase or may be informally resolved, if appropriate.
- 4. If at any point the investigator determines there is insufficient evidence to support a charge or to warrant further consideration of discipline, then the complaint should be dismissed.
- 5. An investigator shall conduct a thorough investigation and should retain written notes and/or obtain written or recorded statements from each interview. The investigator shall also keep a record of any party's proffered witnesses not interviewed, along with a brief, written explanation of why the witnesses were not interviewed.
- 6. The initial investigation report shall be provided to the Respondent and the Complainant (where applicable). This report should clearly indicate any resulting charges (or alternatively, a determination of no charges), as well as the facts and evidence in support thereof, witness statements, and possible sanctions. For purposes of this Policy, a charge is not a finding of responsibility, but indicates that there is sufficient evidence to warrant further consideration and adjudication.
- 7. The final investigation report should be provided to the misconduct panel or hearing officer for consideration in adjudicating the charges brought against the Respondent. A copy shall also be provided to the respondent and Complainant (where applicable) before any hearing. The investigator may testify as a witness regarding the investigation and findings but shall otherwise have no part in the hearing process and shall not attempt to otherwise influence the proceedings outside of providing testimony during the hearing.

# Resolution/Hearing

In no case shall a hearing to resolve charge(s) of student misconduct take place before the investigative report has been finalized.

Where the Respondent indicates that they contest the charges, the matter shall be set for a hearing and once the investigative report has been finalized and copies provided to the

Respondent and Complainant (where applicable); however, the Complainant (where applicable) and Respondent may have the option of selecting informal resolution as a possible resolution in certain student misconduct cases where they mutually agree, except where deemed inappropriate by the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs (or their designee) or the System Director.

Where a case is not resolved through informal resolution or informal resolution is not available due to the nature of the charges, the Respondent shall have the option of having the charges heard either by an administrator (Hearing Officer) or a Hearing Panel. If an administrative hearing is requested, the Respondent shall use their discretion to determine whether the case should be heard by a Hearing Panel. Notice of the date, time, and location of the hearing shall be provided to the Respondent and Complainant (where applicable) at least five business days prior to the hearing. Notice shall be provided via institution email where applicable. Hearings shall be conducted in person or via conferencing technology as reasonably available. Additionally, the following standards will apply to any such hearing:

- 1. The Respondent and Complainant (where applicable) shall have the right to present witnesses and evidence to the hearing officer or panel. Witness testimony, if provided, shall pertain to knowledge and facts directly associated with the case being heard. The Respondent and Complainant (where applicable) shall have the right to confront any witnesses, including the other party, by submitting written questions to the Hearing Officer or Hearing Panel for consideration. Advisors may actively assist in drafting questions. The Hearing Officer or Hearing Panel shall ask the questions as written and will limit questions only if they are unrelated to determining the veracity of the charge leveled against the Respondent(s). In any event, the Hearing Officer or Hearing Panel shall err on the side of asking all submitted questions and must document the reason for not asking any particular questions.
- 2. Where the Hearing Officer or Hearing Panel determines that a party or witness is unavailable and unable to be present due to extenuating circumstances, the Hearing Officer or Hearing Panel may establish special procedures for providing testimony from a separate location. In doing so, the Hearing Officer or Hearing Panel must determine whether there is a valid basis for the unavailability, ensure proper sequestration in a manner that ensures testimony has not been tainted, and make a determination that such an arrangement will not unfairly disadvantage any party. Should it be reasonably believed that a party or witness who is not physically present has presented tainted testimony, the Hearing Officer or Hearing Panel will disregard or discount the testimony.
- 3. Formal judicial rules of evidence do not apply to the investigatory or resolution process.
- 4. The standard of review shall be a preponderance of the evidence.
- 5. Institutions should maintain documentation of the proceedings, which may include written findings of fact, transcripts, audio recordings, and/or video recordings.
- 6. Following a hearing, both the Respondent and Complainant (where applicable) shall be simultaneously provided a written decision via institution email (where applicable) of the outcome and any resulting sanctions. The decision should include details on how to appeal, as outlined below. Additionally, the written decision must summarize the

evidence relied on in support of the outcome and the rationale for the resulting sanction. The same form will be completed, regardless of whether the student opts for a hearing panel or an administrative proceeding.

#### Sanctions

The following are student conduct sanctions that may be imposed upon the student. This list is not exhaustive and the College reserves the right to modify or enlarge the list at any time depending on the nature of the violation(s).

Upon imposition of a sanction, the student is notified by email to his/her student email account. In cases of suspension or expulsion, the parents of a minor will be notified by mail.

- 1. Student Conduct Warning a Student Conduct Warning is an official written reprimand.
- 2. Student Conduct Probation Student Conduct Probation is a period of time during which further violations of the rules and regulations of the College may result in suspension or expulsion. Probation may be imposed for a period of time ranging from the remainder of the semester in which the violation occurred to the remainder of the student's matriculation at the College. Restrictions may be imposed in conjunction with probation and may include:
  - a. *Community Service Hours* Students may be required to complete work at a designated location for a specified number of hours.
  - b. *Educational Programs* Students may be required to attend programs on special topics related to the offense. This does not include academic courses for credit.
  - c. Restricted presence on campus Students may be restricted on campus except to attend classes or complete coursework.
  - d. *Special Projects* Students may be required to write papers and/or present programs on topics related to the offense.
  - e. Substance Abuse Assessment Students may be required to submit to an assessment for substance abuse. Periodic drug testing, not to exceed two random tests per semester for a minimum of three semesters, may be required.
  - f. Restitution Students may be required to reimburse the College or other persons, groups, or organizations for damages incurred as a result of a violation of the Student Code of Conduct.
  - g. *Confiscation* The College reserves the right to confiscate goods used or possessed in violation of the Student Code of Conduct.
  - h. Fines Students may be required to pay an additional Student Conduct fine in relation to violations of alcohol and other drugs.
- 3. Loss of Student Office/Leadership Position Students in elected/appointed positions may lose the position as a result of a violation of the Student Code of Conduct.

- 4. Forced Withdrawal Students may be withdrawn from the academic course(s) within which the violation of the Student Code of Conduct occurred without receiving academic credit for the course(s) or refund.
- 5. Removal from the Residence Life & Housing Program Students found in violation of the Student Code of Conduct may be removed from the Residence Life & Housing Program with no refund of fees. Additionally, these students will be responsible for payment of any remaining costs associated with the housing contract. Removal from the Residence Life & Housing program does not equal suspension or expulsion from the College.
- 6. Temporary Suspension from a Course Students may receive a temporary suspension from a particular course, not to exceed two class meetings. Students are still responsible for any material covered during the temporary suspension.

# 7. Interim Suspension

- a. An interim suspension, that is, suspension while the investigation and adjudication processes are proceeding—shall occur only when necessary to maintain safety and shall be limited to those situations where the charged student poses a serious and immediate danger or threat to persons or property. In making such an assessment, the institution shall consider the existence of a significant risk to the health or safety of the campus community; the nature, duration, and severity of the risk; the probability of potential injury; and whether less restrictive means can be used to significantly mitigate the risk.
- b. Before an interim suspension is issued, the institution shall make all reasonable efforts to give the charged student the opportunity to be heard on whether their presence on campus poses a danger. If an interim suspension is issued, the terms of the suspension shall take effect immediately. When requested by the charged student, a hearing to determine whether the interim suspension should continue will be held within three (3) business days of the request (BoR 4.6.5.2).
- 8. Suspension A decision of suspension terminates the student's status as an enrolled student for a specific period of time and prohibits the student from attending classes. A suspended student may not participate in College-sponsored activities or be present on campus without specific authorization from the Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success. The Dean of Students of Students and Housing for Student Success may further impose a summary suspension in cases where a suspended student chooses to violate the terms of their suspension. Suspended students may not receive academic credit of any kind from another institution if earned during their period of suspension from the College. Students may not receive a refund of fees.
- 9. Expulsion A decision of expulsion constitutes a permanent severance of the student's relationship with the College. An expelled student may not enter any part of the campus without specific authorization from the Dean of Students and Housing for Student

Success. Students shall not receive a refund of fees. Students shall receive the grade of "W" in any classes in which he or she is enrolled.

# **SEXUAL MISCONDUCT**

Consistent with federal law and University System of Georgia policy, sexual misconduct of employees or students in the University System is prohibited and shall subject the offender to dismissal or other sanctions. Copies of the Sexual Harassment Policy are available online, <a href="https://www.usg.edu/policymanual/section6/C2655/">https://www.usg.edu/policymanual/section6/C2655/</a>. Institutional specific information may be found at <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/sexual-misconduct-policy">https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/sexual-misconduct-policy</a>.

# 4.6.5.3 Reports of Sexual Misconduct

# **Initial Evaluation of Sexual Misconduct Reports:**

Upon notice of the alleged Sexual Misconduct, the institution's Title IX Coordinator ("Coordinator") will assess whether a formal investigation, informal resolution, or dismissal would be appropriate. In making this determination, the Coordinator will assess whether the allegation(s), if true, would rise to the level of prohibited conduct, whether a Formal Complaint must be filed, whether an investigation is appropriate in light of the circumstances, whether the parties prefer an informal resolution, and whether any safety concerns exist for the campus community. The need to issue a broader warning to the community in compliance with the Clery Act shall be assessed in compliance with federal law.

# **Confidentiality:**

Where a Complainant requests that their identity be withheld or the allegation(s) not be investigated, the Coordinator should consider whether or not such request(s) can be honored in a manner consistent with the institution's obligations to promote a safe and nondiscriminatory environment. The institution should inform the Complainant that the institution cannot guarantee confidentiality. Honoring a Complainant's request for confidentiality shall not prevent the institution from reporting information or statistical data as required by law, including the Clery Act.

# Retaliation:

Anyone who has made a report or complaint, provided information, assisted, participated, or refused to participate in any manner in the Sexual Misconduct process, shall not be subjected to retaliation. Anyone who believes that they have been subjected to retaliation should immediately contact the Coordinator or their designee. Any person found to have engaged in retaliation shall be subject to disciplinary action.

# **False Complaints/Statements:**

Individuals are prohibited from knowingly making false statements or knowingly submitting false information to a system or institution official. Any person found to have knowingly submitted false complaints, accusations, or statements, including during a hearing, shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action (up to and including suspension or expulsion) under the appropriate institutional process.

# Amnesty:

Students should be encouraged to come forward and to report Sexual Misconduct notwithstanding their choice to consume alcohol or to use drugs. Information reported by a student during the Sexual Misconduct process concerning the consumption of drugs or alcohol will not be used against the particular student in a disciplinary proceeding or voluntarily reported to law enforcement; however, students may be provided with resources on drug and alcohol counseling and/or education, as appropriate. Nevertheless, these students may be required to meet with staff members regarding the incident and may be required to participate in appropriate educational program(s). The required participation in an educational program under this amnesty procedure will not be considered a sanction. Nothing in this amnesty provision shall prevent an institution staff member who is otherwise obligated by law (the Clery Act) to report information or statistical data as required.

# **Jurisdiction:**

Each institution shall take necessary and appropriate action to promote the safety and well-being of its community. Accordingly, Sexual Misconduct should be addressed when such acts occur on institution property, at institution-sponsored or affiliated events, or otherwise violates the institution's student conduct policies, regardless as to where such conduct occurs.

# **Access to Advisors:**

1. For Formal Title IX Complaints: Both the Complainant and the Respondent, as parties to the matter, shall have the opportunity to use an advisor (who may or may not be an attorney) of the party's choosing. The advisor may accompany the party to all meetings and may provide advice and counsel to their respective party throughout the Sexual Misconduct process, including providing questions, suggestions and guidance to the party, but may not actively participate in the process except to conduct cross-examination at the hearing as outlined in the Resolution/Hearing section below. If a party chooses not to use an advisor during the investigation, the institution will provide an advisor for the purpose of conducting cross-examination on behalf of the relevant party. All communication during the Sexual Misconduct process will be between the institution and the party and not the advisor. The institution will copy the party's advisor prior to the finalization of the investigation report when the institution provides the parties the right to inspect and review directly related information gathered during the investigation. With the party's permission, the advisor may be copied on all communications.

2. For Non-Title IX Sexual Misconduct Complaints: Both the Complainant and the Respondent, as parties to the matter, shall have the opportunity to use an advisor (who may or may not be an attorney) of the party's choosing at the party's own expense. The advisor may accompany the party to all meetings and may provide advice and counsel to their respective party throughout the Sexual Misconduct process but may not actively participate in the process. All communication during the Sexual Misconduct process will be between the institution and the party and not the advisor. With the party's permission, the advisor may be copied on all communications.

### **Interim Measures:**

Interim measures may be implemented at any point after the institution becomes aware of an allegation of Sexual Misconduct and should be designed to protect any student or other individual in the USG community. Such measures are designed to restore or preserve equal access to the education program or activity without unreasonably burdening the other party, including measures designed to protect the safety of all parties or the recipient's educational environment, or deter Sexual Misconduct and retaliation. Interim measures must be implemented consistent with the provisions in applicable Board and institutional policies and procedures.

An interim suspension should only occur where necessary to promote safety and should be limited to those situations where the Respondent poses a serious and immediate danger or threat to persons or property. In making such an assessment, the institution should consider the existence of a significant risk to the health or safety of the Complainant or the campus community; the nature, duration, and severity of the risk; the probability of potential injury; and whether less restrictive means can be used to significantly mitigate the risk.

Before an interim suspension is issued, the institution must make reasonable efforts to give the Respondent the opportunity to be heard on whether the Respondent's presence on campus poses a danger. If an interim suspension is issued, the terms of the interim suspension take effect immediately. The Respondent shall receive notice of the interim suspension and the opportunity to respond to the interim suspension. Within three business days of receiving a challenge the institution will determine whether the interim suspension should continue.

### 4.6.5.4 Process for Investigating and Resolving Sexual Misconduct Reports

# Investigation

Throughout any investigation and resolution proceeding, a party shall receive written notice of the alleged Sexual Misconduct, shall be provided an opportunity to respond, and shall be allowed the right to remain silent or otherwise not participate in or during the investigation and resolution process without an adverse inference resulting. If a party chooses to remain silent or otherwise not participate in the investigation or resolution process, the investigation and resolution process may still proceed, and policy violations may result.

Until a final determination of responsibility, the Respondent is presumed to have not violated the Sexual Misconduct Policy. Prior to the finalization of the investigation report, timely and equal access to information directly related to the allegations that has been gathered during the investigation and may be used at the hearing will be provided to the Complaint, the Respondent, and a party's advisor (where applicable).

Formal judicial rules of evidence do not apply to the investigation process, additionally the standard of review throughout the Sexual Misconduct process is a preponderance of the evidence.

- 1. The parties shall be provided with written notice of the: report/allegations with sufficient details, pending investigation, possible charges, possible sanctions, available support services and interim measures, and other rights under applicable institutional policies. For the purposes of this provision, sufficient details include the identities of the parties involved, if known, the conduct allegedly constituting Sexual Misconduct, and the date and location of the alleged incident, if known. This information will be supplemented as necessary with relevant evidence collected during the investigation. The notice should also include the identity of any investigator(s) involved. Notice should be provided via institution email to the party's institution email.
- 2. Upon receipt of the written notice, the parties shall have at least three business days to respond in writing. In that response, the Respondent shall have the right to admit or deny the allegations, and to set forth a defense with facts, witnesses, and supporting materials. A Complainant shall have the right to respond to and supplement the notice. Throughout the Sexual Misconduct process, the Complainant and the Respondent shall have the right to present witnesses and other inculpatory and exculpatory evidence.
- 3. If the Respondent admits responsibility, the process may proceed to the sanctioning phase or may be informally resolved, if appropriate.
- 4. An investigator shall conduct a thorough investigation and should retain written notes and/or obtain written or recorded statements from each interview. The investigator shall also keep a record of any party's proffered witnesses not interviewed, along with a brief, written explanation of why the witnesses were not interviewed.
- 5. An investigator shall not access, consider, disclose, or otherwise use a party's records made or maintained by a physician, psychiatrist, psychologist, or other recognized professional made in connection with the party's treatment unless the party has provided voluntary written consent. This also applies to information protected by recognized legal privilege.
- 6. The initial investigation report shall be provided to the Complainant, the Respondent, and a party's advisor (if applicable). This report should fairly summarize the relevant evidence gathered during the investigation and clearly indicate any resulting charges or alternatively, a determination of no charges. For purposes of this Policy, a charge is not a finding of responsibility.
- 7. The Complainant and the Respondent shall have at least 10 calendar days to review and respond in writing to the initial investigation report and directly related information

- gathered during the investigation. The investigator will review the Complainant's and the Respondent's written responses, if any, to determine whether further investigation or changes to the investigation report are necessary.
- 8. The final investigation report should be provided to the Complainant, the Respondent, and a party's advisor, if applicable, at least 10 calendar days prior to the Hearing. The final investigation report should also be provided to all Hearing Panel members for consideration during the adjudication process.

# **Resolution/Hearing**

The Respondent and the Complainant, as parties to the matter, may have the option of selecting informal resolution as a possible resolution in certain cases where the parties agree, and it is deemed appropriate by the institution. Where a matter is not resolved through informal resolution a hearing shall be set. All Sexual Misconduct cases shall be heard by a panel of faculty and/or staff. All institutional participants in the Sexual Misconduct resolution process shall receive appropriate annual training as directed by the System Director or Coordinator and required by the Clery Act and Title IX.

In no case shall a hearing to resolve a Sexual Misconduct allegation take place before the investigation report has been finalized. The investigator may testify as a witness regarding the investigation and findings but shall otherwise have no part in the hearing process and shall not attempt to otherwise influence the proceedings outside of providing testimony during the hearing. All directly related evidence shall be available at the hearing for the parties and their advisors to reference during the hearing.

Relevant facts or evidence that were not known or knowable to the parties prior to the issuance of the final investigative report shall be admissible during the hearing. The institution will determine how the facts or evidence will be introduced. The admissibility of any facts or evidence known or knowable by the parties prior to the issuance of the final investigative report, and which were not submitted during the investigation, shall be determined by the institution in compliance with the obligation to provide both parties an equal opportunity to present and respond to witnesses and other evidence. Notice of the date, time, and location of the hearing as well as the selected hearing panel members shall be provided to the Complainant and the Respondent at least 10 calendar days prior to the hearing. Notice shall be provided via institution email to the parties' institution email. Parties may attend the hearing with their advisor.

Hearings shall be conducted in-person or via video conferencing technology. Where the institution determines that a party or witness is unable to be present in person due to extenuating circumstances, the institution may establish special procedures to permit that individual to provide testimony from a separate location. In doing so, the institution must determine whether there is a valid basis for the individual's unavailability, require that the individual properly sequester in a manner that ensures testimony has not been tainted, and make a determination that such arrangement will not unfairly disadvantage any party. Should it be reasonably believed that the individual presented tainted testimony, the hearing panel will

disregard or discount the testimony. Parties may also request to provide testimony in a separate room from the opposing party, so long as no party is unfairly disadvantaged, and they have the opportunity to view the testimony remotely and submit follow-up questions. At all times participants in the hearing process, including parties, a party's advisor, and institution officials, are expected to act in a manner that promotes dignity and decorum throughout the hearing. Participants are expected to be respectful to others and follow procedural formalities outlined by this Policy and the institution. The institution reserves the right to remove any participant from the hearing environment if the participant refuses to adhere to the institution's established rules of decorum. Each institution shall maintain documentation of the investigation and resolution process, which may include written findings of fact, transcripts, audio recordings, and/or video recordings. Any documentation shall be maintained for seven years.

Additionally, the following standards will apply to Title IX and Non-Title IX Sexual Misconduct hearings respectively:

# A. Title IX Hearings

- Where a party or a witness is unavailable, unable, or otherwise unwilling to
  participate in the hearing, including being subject to cross-examination, the
  hearing panel shall not rely on statements of that party or witness in reaching its
  determination regarding responsibility. The hearing panel shall not draw an
  adverse inference against the party or witness based solely on their absence
  from the hearing or refusal to subject to cross-examination.
- 2. The parties shall have the right to present witnesses and evidence at the hearing.
- 3. The parties shall have the right to confront any witness, including the other party, by having their advisor ask relevant questions directly to the witness. The Hearing Officer shall limit questions raised by the advisor when they are irrelevant to determining the veracity of the allegations against the Respondent(s). In any such event, the Hearing Officer shall err on the side of permitting all the raised questions and must document the reason for not permitting any particular questions to be raised.
- 4. Questions and evidence about the Complainant's sexual predisposition or prior sexual behavior, shall be deemed irrelevant, unless such questions and evidence are offered to prove that someone other than the Respondent committed the alleged conduct or consent between the parties during the alleged incident.
- 5. The hearing panel shall not access, consider, disclose, or otherwise use a party's records made or maintained by a physician, psychiatrist, psychologist, or other recognized professional made in connection with the party's treatment unless the party has provided voluntary written consent. This also applies to information protected by recognized legal privilege.
- 6. Formal judicial rules of evidence do not apply to the resolution process and the standard of evidence shall be a preponderance of the evidence.
- 7. Following a hearing, the parties shall be simultaneously provided a written decision via institution email of the hearing outcome and any resulting sanctions or administrative actions. The decision must include the allegations, procedural

steps taken through the investigation and resolution process, findings of facts supporting the determination(s), determination(s) regarding responsibility, and the evidence relied upon and rationale for any sanction or other administrative action. The institution shall also notify the parties of their right to appeal as outlined below.

# **B. Non-Title IX Sexual Misconduct Hearings**

- 1. The parties shall have the right to present witnesses and evidence at the hearing. Witness testimony, if provided, shall pertain to knowledge and facts directly associated with the case being heard.
- 2. The parties shall have the right to confront any witnesses, including the other party, by submitting written questions to the Hearing Officer for consideration. Advisors may actively assist in drafting questions. The Hearing Officer shall ask the questions as written and will limit questions only if they are irrelevant to determining the veracity of the allegations against the Respondent(s). In any such event, the Hearing Officer shall err on the side of asking all submitted questions and must document the reason for not asking any particular questions.
- 3. Questions and evidence about the Complainant's sexual predisposition or prior sexual behavior, shall be deemed irrelevant, unless such questions and evidence are offered to prove that someone other than the Respondent committed the alleged conduct or consent between the parties during the alleged incident.
- 4. The hearing panel shall not access, consider, disclose, or otherwise use a party's records made or maintained by a physician, psychiatrist, psychologist, or other recognized professional made in connection with the party's treatment unless the party has provided voluntary written consent. This also applies to information protected by recognized legal privilege.
- 5. Formal judicial rules of evidence do not apply to the resolution process and the standard of evidence shall be a preponderance of the evidence.
- 6. Following a hearing, the parties shall be simultaneously provided a written decision via institution email of the hearing outcome and any resulting sanctions or administrative actions. The decision must include the allegations, procedural steps taken through the investigation and resolution process, findings of facts supporting the determination(s), determination(s) regarding responsibility, and the evidence relied upon and rationale for any sanction or other administrative action. The institution shall also notify the parties of their right to appeal, as outlined below.

### 4.6.5.5 Possible Sanctions

In determining the severity of sanctions or corrective actions the following should be considered: the frequency, severity, and/or nature of the offense; history of past conduct; an offender's willingness to accept responsibility; previous institutional response to similar conduct; strength of the evidence; and the wellbeing of the College community. The institution will determine sanctions and issue notice of the same, as outlined above. The broad range of sanctions includes: expulsion; suspension for an identified time frame or until satisfaction of

certain conditions or both; temporary or permanent separation of the parties (e.g., change in classes, reassignment of residence, no contact orders, limiting geography of where parties can go on campus) with additional sanctions for violating no-contact orders; required participation in sensitivity training/awareness education programs; required participation in alcohol and other drug awareness and abuse prevention programs; counseling or mentoring; volunteering/community service; loss of institutional privileges; delays in obtaining administrative services and benefits from the institution; additional academic requirements relating to scholarly work or research; financial restitution; or any other discretionary sanctions directly related to the violation or conduct. For suspension and expulsion, the institution must articulate, in its written decision, the substantial evidence relied upon in determining that suspension or expulsion were appropriate. For purposes of this Policy, substantial evidence means evidence that a reasonable person might accept to support the conclusion.

# 4.6.5.6 Appeals

Appeals may be made in any cases where sanctions are issued, even when such sanctions are held "in abeyance," such as probationary or expulsion. Where the sanction imposed includes a suspension or expulsion (even for one held in abeyance), the following appellate procedures must be provided:

- 1. The Respondent (and in cases involving sexual misconduct or other forms of discrimination and/or harassment, the Complainant) shall have the right to appeal the outcome on any of the following grounds: (1) to consider new information, sufficient to alter the decision, or other relevant facts not brought out in the original hearing (or appeal), because such information was not known or knowable to the person appealing during the time of the hearing (or appeal); (2) to allege a procedural error within the hearing process that may have substantially impacted the fairness of the hearing (or appeal), including but not limited to whether any hearing questions were improperly excluded or whether the decision was tainted by a conflict of interest or bias by the Title IX Coordinator, Conduct Officer, investigator(s), decision makers(s); or (3) to allege that the finding was inconsistent with the weight of the information. The appeal must be made in writing, must set forth one or more of the bases outlined above, and must be submitted within five business days of the date of the final written decision. The appeal should be made to the institution's President or their designee.
- 2. The appeal shall be a review of the record only, and no new meeting with the Respondent or any Complainant is required. The President or their designee may affirm the original finding and sanction, affirm the original finding but issue a new sanction of greater or lesser severity, remand the case back to any lower decision maker to correct a procedural or factual defect, or reverse or dismiss the case if there was a procedural or factual defect that cannot be remedied by remand. The President or their designee's decision shall be simultaneously issued in writing to the parties within a reasonable time period. The President or their designee's decision shall be the final decision of the institution.

- 3. Should the Respondent or Complainant (where applicable) wish to appeal the final institutional decision, they may request review by the Board of Regents in accordance with the Board of Regents' Policy on Discretionary Review.
- 4. Appeals received after the designated deadlines above will not be considered unless the institution or Board of Regents has granted an extension prior to the deadline. If an appeal is not received by the deadline, the last decision on the matter will become final.

# 4.6.5.7 Recusal/Challenge for Bias

Any party may challenge the participation of any institution official, employee or student panel member in the process on the grounds of personal bias by submitting a written statement to the institution's designee setting forth the basis for the challenge. The designee shall not be the same individual responsible for investigating or adjudicating the conduct allegation. The written challenge should be submitted within a reasonable time after the individual knows or reasonably should have known of the existence of the bias. The institution's designee will determine whether to sustain or deny the challenge and, if sustained, the replacement to be appointed.

# HAZING/MAX GRUVER ACT

Hazing is a serious public health problem that causes physical and mental harm to students. SGSC's Student Code of Conduct expressly prohibits hazing and sanctions will be imposed for individuals and/or organizations found responsible. The Max Gruver Act, codified into law May 9, 2021, is an anti-hazing bill that classifies hazing as a misdemeanor and requires colleges and universities to create a webpage dedicated to the public disclosure of student conduct adjudications of hazing and hazing related convictions (external criminal convictions).

# Hazing is defined as:

- A. Any act, intentional or unintentional, regardless of a student's willingness to participate in such activity, which subjects a student to an activity which, for the purpose of initiation, admission into, affiliation with, or as a condition for continued membership, office, or other status in a Group or Organization:
  - 1. Endangers or is likely to endanger the emotional, mental, financial, or physical health or safety of a student (including, but not limited to, acts that cause or are likely to cause physical discomfort, embarrassment and/or ridicule),
  - 2. Coerces a student through the use of social or physical pressure to consume any food, liquid, alcohol, drug, or other substance which subjects the student to a likely risk of vomiting, intoxication, or unconsciousness
  - 3. Destroys or removes public or private property.
- B. Any other activity that meets the definition of "hazing" under applicable law, including but not limited to the "Max Gruver" Legislation Senate Bill 85.

# **COLLEGE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES**

# **ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION**

SGSC subscribes to the University System of Georgia's initiative on Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR). Also known as "mediation," ADR aims to resolve disputes between two persons without a formal grievance procedure or legal action. The goal of such a resolution is to satisfy the needs of both parties in a non-threatening manner in an atmosphere where both sides are expressed and possible solutions to the dispute are developed by the disputants themselves. To arrive at a win-win solution that will satisfy both parties, a certified mediator facilitates the expressions of concern, identifies issues for negotiation, and helps the parties work toward an agreement that can satisfy their needs. This process works very well for most disputes that do not involve criminal activity or academic grades. Further, the positions of the disputants are of minimal concern. Therefore, disputes between student and faculty member, faculty and staff, student and student, and faculty/staff and administration can be reasonably settled through mediation. For information on Alternative Dispute Resolution (mediation), please contact Academic Affairs at 912-260-4201. Refer to this Handbook for the grade appeal process.

### **CAMPUS SOLICITATION**

If a non-profit organization receives permission to contact students, space will be provided in designated areas. Outside organizations, including religious, political, and civic organizations are welcome within these restrictions. Such solicitations must be approved by the Vice President of Academic and Student Affairs. Individuals or off-campus organizations may not solicit students in the residence halls, classrooms, or library.

# **CAMPUS VISITORS**

The South Georgia State College campus, buildings, and facilities are designated for the use of the students, faculty, and staff of the College. Guests of students, faculty, and staff are welcome on the campus and are subject to all campus regulations while visiting the College. Loiterers or visitors whose conduct is in any way detrimental to the safety of students, faculty, and staff and/or operation of the College shall be asked to leave. Also, individuals who refuse to identify themselves to a College faculty or staff member, including Campus Police officers, shall be asked to leave the campus. Persons who refuse to respond to this request and/or who return to the campus after having been instructed to leave shall be in violation of state law and shall be subject to arrest.

#### CHILDREN ON CAMPUS

Children of currently enrolled students are allowed on campus only with the direct supervision of that parent. Children will not be allowed to roam the campus or be left unattended by their parent(s) at any time in any location.

Students who are parents of unattended children found on campus will be removed from their class to take possession of the children and may be asked to remove the children from campus if other arrangements cannot be made.

Children may not be present in an academic class or lab. Children are to follow the same rules of reasonable behavior that apply to South Georgia State College students, and faculty and staff members may request that a child be removed from campus at any time if the child's presence disrupts the learning environment of other students.

# **EQUAL EMPLOYMENT & EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITY**

South Georgia State College, in compliance with federal law, implements affirmative action/equal opportunity to all employees, students and applicants for employment, admissions, financial aid, and education services without regard to race, color, gender, sexual orientation, religion, creed, national origin, age, veteran status or disability. This policy is consistent with the requirements and objectives of Executive Order 11246, as amended, Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Act of 1974, as amended (#38 USC 2012), Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, and their implementing regulations.

### FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION POLICY

Parades, student rallies, and other gatherings must follow the Freedom of Expression Policy (see Appendix B).

# **RISK MANAGEMENT/ASSUMPTION OF RISK**

Students should actively seek information about any risks involved in all of the student activities and college-related events on and off-campus. Students must sign a release form stating that they are aware of the risks involved and that they carry sufficient insurance for their protection. Waiver and Release forms are available from Student Engagement.

# **SMOKING POLICY**

The University System of Georgia Board of Regents approved March 19, 2014 to make all institutions owned by USG tobacco free. South Georgia State College effectively became a tobacco free campus on August 1, 2014.

The policy applies to all locations as well as employees, students, contractors, subcontractors, and visitors. Plus, all events hosted by SGSC, or on one of our locations, shall be tobacco and smoke free, according to the policy. It is also applicable 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

More information on the USG adopted policy is available at this link: https://www.usg.edu/policymanual/section6/C2663

# STUDENT EQUITY CONCERNS

All student grievances concerning discrimination based on race, color, gender, sexual orientation, religion, creed, national origin, age, veteran status or disability shall be directed to the Affirmative Action Officer of the College, who is the Director of Human Resources.

Affirmative Action Officer South Georgia State College 100 W. College Park Drive Douglas, Georgia 31533 912-260-4376

# STUDENT VOTING PRIVILEGES

Students are encouraged to vote in all federal, state, and local elections. Consistent with the University System of Georgia policy, a student whose class schedule will otherwise prevent him or her from voting will be permitted an excused absence for the interval reasonably required for voting. It is noted that opportunities for early voting will reduce much of the need for such absences.

### TECHNOLOGY RESOURCES POLICIES FOR STUDENTS

The SGSC Acceptable Use Policy is located at <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/about/it-policies">https://www.sgsc.edu/about/it-policies</a>.

# WRITTEN STUDENT COMPLAINTS

Within the framework of Student Rights and Responsibilities, South Georgia State College students are encouraged to communicate responsibly on matters of concern. The policies and procedures for written student complaints may be found at <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/student-handbook">https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/student-complaint</a> utilizing the online portal found at <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/student-compliant-process">https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/student-compliant-process</a>

# IMPORTANT INFORMATION

### **ATHLETICS**

South Georgia State College is an active participant in intercollegiate sports and a member of the Georgia and National Junior College Athletic Associations. All South Georgia State College regular season athletic events are free to currently enrolled SGSC students. Please contact the Athletic Department for more information at 912-260-4217.

### **CAMPUS ALERT SYSTEM**

Blackboard Connect® communication has been selected to deliver time-sensitive notifications to students, faculty and staff. This service provides campus leaders and security professionals the ability to reach students and staff members with information and updates during unforeseen events or emergencies, within minutes, through phone calls, e-mails and/or text messages, whether they are in their residence hall, sitting in front of their computers, or on their way to class. Notifying students immediately is crucial in time-sensitive situations, such as a severe storm or campus closure. It is important for students to enter their contact information into the Blackboard Connect database. The more methods SGSC has to contact individuals, the better the odds are of spreading timely information and updates and keeping everyone safe. Contact information included in the Blackboard Connect service will only be used for campus notifications and will not be made available to any other service. To sign up for Blackboard Connect, visit http://www.sgsc.edu/departments/emergency%20notification%20systems.cms.

### **CAMPUS BOOKSTORE**

Students may visit the Campus Bookstore to get their textbooks and other instructional supplies. The Bookstores also offer an assortment of hats, t-shirts, sweatshirts, and general school supplies. The Douglas Campus Bookstore is located in Engram Hall and the Waycross Campus Bookstore is located in the Dye Building.

### **CAMPUS RECREATION**

Student Engagement sponsors events throughout each semester for students' co-curricular enjoyment. These activities utilize student activity fees and are often free to the student. Events include such activities as concerts, trips, family activities, and intramurals. The College swimming pool is used both for recreation and physical education programs for regularly enrolled students. Specific rules governing conduct at the swimming pool and a swimming schedule are posted in the vicinity of the pool. Contact the Athletic Department at 912-260-4217 for more information

regarding the facility. Tennis courts are located on the east side of campus, and students may play golf on the community golf course at a discounted rate.

### FINANCIAL AID AND SCHOLARSHIPS

Students interested in receiving assistance from any of the federal assistance programs must complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA). More information regarding the Financial Aid and Scholarships at SGSC is available on the SGSC website at https://www.sgsc.edu/afford/financial-aid-home.

#### **FOOD SERVICES**

South Georgia State College has an agreement with Aladdin Campus Dining to provide food services on the SGSC Douglas campus, and Five Star Food Service provides services for our vending machines. Aladdin works with groups planning events that feature food and beverages. Residential students are required to participate in a meal plan each term. Commuting students may purchase meals with cash or debit/credit card or by purchasing a commuter meal plan, which is accessed by using their SGSC ID card at the Dining Hall. The ID card is classified as a financial transaction card and is governed by Georgia law and College regulations. Food services accounts are issued in conjunction with the SGSC ID, which is validated by the Cashier's Office. Food services hours are posted in the Dining Hall. For assistance or more information, please contact the Cashier's Office at 912-260-6759 or Aladdin, located in the SGSC Dining Hall, at 912-720-4825 or tajudin.jarallah@aladdinfood.com

### **FOUNDATION SCHOLARSHIPS**

South Georgia State College (SGSC) is supported by two 501(c)(3) non-profit Foundations. Through the receipt of tax-deductible gifts, the Foundations enhance the quality of programs for SGSC by funding scholarships, new academic initiatives, faculty/staff development, athletic programs and other college priorities.

The SGSC Office of Advancement serves as the liaison between the College and the Foundations and assists with the awarding of annual scholarships. For further details on the Foundations or other Foundation-sponsored programs, please contact the Office of Advancement via email at <a href="mailto:taylor.hereford@sgsc.edu">taylor.hereford@sgsc.edu</a> or by phone at 912-449-7511. Students may complete a Foundation Scholarship Application at <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/alumni-and-friends/scholarships">https://www.sgsc.edu/alumni-and-friends/scholarships</a>

# **IDENTIFICATION CARDS**

Upon enrollment, each student on campus is issued an SGSC ID card. Douglas Campus students may obtain ID cards from the Office of Admissions located in Engram Hall. Waycross Campus

students may obtain ID cards from the Enrollment Services office located in the Dye Building. This ID card serves several important functions. It gives students access to materials in the library and serves as validation for printing from computer workstations. The card also provides access to the Douglas Campus Wellness Center and other facilities and events on campus. In addition, it is used as a food services card and key access for the residence hall. Students are required to surrender the ID card to Campus Police staff or other campus officials upon request. Loss of the card should be reported immediately to the Cashier's Office. If a card is lost, a \$10 replacement fee is assessed. It is a violation of the Code of Conduct to loan a card to someone else or to use anyone else's card. Unauthorized use of cards violates state financial transaction laws.

### **INTRAMURALS**

Intramural team sports vary by semester. Offerings may include basketball, dodgeball, and flag football as well as other sports. Students are not allowed to solicit sponsorship for intramural activities off- campus. For additional information concerning intramurals, please contact Student Engagement at 912-260-4404.

# JOB PLACEMENT

South Georgia State College offers part-time employment for currently enrolled students through the Federal College Work Study Program. Federal College Work Study is a need-based program. To apply for a work study position, you must complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) as well as any other required documents pertaining to the federal application process. Please see the Office of Financial Aid for more information or call 912-260-4282.

### **ORIENTATION**

The best way for new students to learn about South Georgia State College is to participate in the New Student orientation program known as SOAR (Student Orientation, Advisement and Registration). During SOAR, participants will have the opportunity to meet other incoming students and meet faculty and professional advisors that will assist them with on-campus resources and setting up a course schedule.

### **RESIDENCE LIFE & HOUSING**

The *Residence Hall Handbook* supplements information in the *South Georgia State College Catalog* and the SGSC *Student Handbook* to help make the most of your college experience. For more information, visit https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/residence-hall-handbook

#### STUDENT ACTIVITIES

Student activity programs have been developed to provide co-curricular training in leadership and development of special skills, and to provide social and cultural activities for the College. The programs are currently financed through an activity fee paid each term by students taking four or more hours on campus.

### STUDENT EMAIL

Students will be assigned an SGSC e-mail account. This account will be used by instructors and the SGSC administration to inform students of important events. Students are expected to log into this account on a regular basis. **SGSC email is an official medium of communication by the College**. Failure to acknowledge or respond to an official notification via SGSC email will not prohibit the College from proceeding with appropriate actions. Account information may be obtained by logging into Banner Web. Submit a Hawk Helper trouble ticket if unable to access the student e-mail account.

### STUDENT HEALTH INSURANCE AND HEALTH FEE

All students are encouraged to carry health and accident insurance. International students are required to secure insurance through the University System of Georgia's Student Health Insurance Program (SHIP) or show proof of comparable coverage. For more information, visit the UnitedHealthcare Student Resources webpage at <a href="https://www.uhcsr.com">https://www.uhcsr.com</a>. Also, Douglas Campus residential students are assessed a \$40 health fee each semester which allows them to been seen at the Coffee Regional First Care Walk-In Clinic in Douglas twice per semester for a basic wellness visit.

### **VEHICLE REGISTRATION**

The staff members of SGSC's Campus Police Department are responsible for vehicle registration. Only SGSC Dougals Campus residential students are required to have a parking permit. Parking permits will be distributed during move-in. Should a permit be needed at a later date, one can be obtained at the Campus Police Department in Tiger 1 from 8:30 am until 8 pm Monday – Thursday. In order to obtain a parking decal, you must present your driver's license or official state identification and your vehicle information. For more information about campus parking and vehicle registration, visit the Campus Police Department webpage at <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/about/parking">https://www.sgsc.edu/about/parking</a>

### **VETERANS AFFAIRS**

The Department of Veterans Affairs offers a wide range of educational benefits to eligible recipients. For more information about these benefits, detailed eligibility criteria and general background material on VA programs, please visit the Department of Veterans Affairs website <a href="http://benefits.va.gov/gibill/">http://benefits.va.gov/gibill/</a> or the VA Certifying Official's office located in Engram Hall. The VA Certifying Official verifies enrollment status and program compliance, and the Veterans Administration administers the benefits.

#### APPENDIX A

# South Georgia State College Student Government Association Constitution

### Preamble

We, the students of South Georgia State College, desiring a democratic, efficient, and responsible Student Government, uphold the belief in the dignity and worth of each individual, working to cultivate and preserve the ideals of responsible citizenship among the student body, desires of the student body by providing the students with every opportunity to have a beneficial college experience, and operating with the administration and faculty in working for the betterment of this College, do hereby establish this Constitution.

Article I – STUDENT BODY MEMBERSHIP

Section 1: Composition

The student body shall be composed of students officially enrolled in South Georgia State College and paying South Georgia State College student activity fees.

Section 2: Privileges

Any of the above recognized students shall be entitled to vote in student elections and make nominations for said election on the campus in which they take a majority of their credit hours. Only students officially enrolled in South Georgia State College may run for office.

Section 3: Name of Organization

The elected officers and representatives of the student body shall be known as the South Georgia State College Student Government Association, hereafter referred to as the SGA.

Article II - AUTHORITIES AND POWERS

Section 1: Authority

Paragraph A: The SGA, chosen through popular elections by the student body of South Georgia State College, shall serve as the official agent of the student body of South Georgia State College; shall protect students' rights; shall serve as a liaison between students, administrators, and organized governing bodies of the College; shall foster an environment of civic responsibility; and shall advocate on behalf of the students' academic, social, and cultural welfare.

Paragraph B: It is established under the authority of the Statutes of South Georgia State College. The duties and functions of this organization are such as are herein conferred upon it.

### Section 2: Function

Paragraph A: The SGA shall work subject to the policies and purposes of the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia, of South Georgia State College, and of the student body whom they represent.

Paragraph B: The SGA shall recommend to the Student Services Committee recognition of student clubs and organizations.

Paragraph C: The SGA shall establish rules regulating the SGA elections and recommend these rules to the Student Services Committee

Paragraph D: The SGA shall make recommendations to the Student Services Committee concerning any considered changes in college rules governing student conduct.

Paragraph E: The SGA shall be the sole authority authorized to make recommendations concerning allocation of Student Activity monies to the Student Services Committee.

Paragraph F: The Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs shall assist the SGA in planning and undertaking all activities involving the expenditure of Student Activity monies.

Paragraph G: The SGA shall solicit, receive, and discuss matters of interest and concern to the students, either as individuals or as organizations, and will present the interest and concerns as policy proposals to the appropriate South Georgia State College Administrative office, and/or to the President of South Georgia State College.

Paragraph H: The SGA may require financial reports from organizations receiving appropriations from Student Activity monies and shall monitor the expenditure of all Student Activity monies.

### Section 3: Administrative Structure

Paragraph A: The placement of the SGA in the administrative structure of South Georgia State College shall be as follows:

President
Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs
Student Services Committee
Student Body (SGA)

Paragraph B: The SGA Advisor shall be appointed by the President of South Georgia State College after consultation with the SGA.

# Section 4: Ultimate Authority

The President of South Georgia State College shall have ultimate authority in decisions made by the SGA.

### Article III - ORGANIZATION

# Section 1: Multi-Campus Structure

Chapters of the Student Government Association must exist on the Douglas and Waycross campuses of the College and may be formed on other campuses if events warrant. Each Chapter will have parallel committee structures and membership. Each chapter may pursue separate activities and initiatives, but attention is always to be paid to opportunities for collaboration, cosponsorship, and teamwork.

# Section 2: Membership

The SGA shall be composed of five (5) officers (President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, and Parliamentarian), and a minimum of five (5) representatives and a maximum of twenty (20) representatives on each campus. One representative must represent the residential community on the campus. In order to allow for adequate student representation in the SGA, as the size of the student body increases, there shall be one representative for each two hundred fifty (250) students. The number of representatives to be elected each year will be based on the official fall student body count for the College.

# Article IV - QUALIFICATIONS

Section 1: Qualifications for President, Vice President, Parliamentarian, Secretary, and Treasurer of SGA

Paragraph A: To be eligible for President, Vice President, Parliamentarian, Secretary, or Treasurer of the SGA, a candidate must have a cumulative academic average of 2.5 for work attempted while at South Georgia State College and must maintain a cumulative average of 2.25 during his/her tenure of office.

Paragraph B: The candidate must have accumulated at least 12 academic hours at South Georgia State College by the time he/she takes office and have been enrolled for at least one semester.

Paragraph C: The candidate must be currently enrolled at South Georgia State College during the semester in which the election is held and must have been enrolled at South Georgia State College the preceding semester.

Paragraph D: The candidate must have a minimum of six (6) semester credit hours each semester at South Georgia State College throughout the term of office with the exception of the summer

and/or graduation semester. Faculty, staff, and administrative staff are not eligible for membership of SGA.

Paragraph E: The candidate must have at least one faculty or staff recommendation.

Paragraph F: The candidate must not be on or have been on conduct probation, academic probation, or special action as specified by the judicial system. Appeal of this qualification can be granted by the Dean of Students & Housing for Student Success.

Paragraph G: The candidate must have attended at least four meetings or twenty-five percent (whichever is less).

Section 2: Qualifications for Representative of the SGA

Paragraph A: A candidate must be enrolled at South Georgia State College during the semester in which the election is held.

Paragraph B: To be eligible as a representative of the SGA, a candidate must have a cumulative academic average of 2.0 and must maintain that average during his/her tenure of office. Appeal of this qualification can be granted by the Dean of Students & Housing for Student Success.

Paragraph C: Each candidate must be enrolled in at least six (6) hours per semester, with the exemption of summer and/or graduation semester.

Paragraph D: The candidate must have at least one faculty or staff recommendation.

Paragraph E: The candidate must not be on or have been on conduct probation, academic probation, or special action as specified by the judicial system. Appeal of this qualification can be granted by the Dean of Students & Housing for Student Success.

### Section 3: Term of Office

The term of each officer and each representative elected Spring semester shall begin on the last SGA meeting of Spring semester, at which time the terms of the preceding officers and representatives will expire. All newly elected officers and representatives elect shall serve exofficio on the SGA from the point that the election is certified until the final day of the semester.

# Section 4: Assumption of Office

All newly elected officers and representatives elect shall serve ex-officio on the SGA from the point that the election is certified until the final day of the semester. The first scheduled meeting following elections shall be a joint meeting of the current officers and representatives and newly elected officers and representatives. At the conclusion of this joint meeting, newly elected senators and officers will be sworn into their new office upon taking an Oath of Office,

administered by The Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs. The Oath is as follows:

I, \_\_\_\_\_\_, do solemnly swear to persevere in my duties as a representative for the students of South Georgia State College, to work for a better student government and to maintain the dignity of the office during my term. I do solemnly swear to execute my office faithfully and honestly and to respect and preserve the Constitution on which our Student Government is founded.

### Section 5: Removal from Office

Paragraph A: Any officer or representative of the SGA may be removed from office through impeachment and trial. Impeachment shall only occur by a two-thirds majority vote of the officers and representatives of the SGA on charges of malfeasance (bad conduct, dereliction of duties, corruption, etc.), misfeasance (breach of policy, improper performance, injurious exercise of authority, etc.), and/or nonfeasance (disregard and/or failure of duty, inattention, etc.) of office. Any SGA Officer or SGA Representative may bring these charges. The President of South Georgia State College and the accused shall be given a minimum of five working days' notice of the date of the impeachment meeting and the impeachment accusations. The President of South Georgia State College, or his/her designee, and the accused shall be given the opportunity to be present during the impeachment meeting. If impeached, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by the South Georgia State College Dispute Resolution Committee. The Chairperson of the Dispute Resolution Committee shall preside over the trial. The President of South Georgia State College shall appoint nine South Georgia State College students to serve on the Committee during the trial. The nine students, two faculty, and one staff on the Committee shall serve as the Jury. The accused shall be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him/her; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his/her favor, and to have assistance of Counsel for his/her defense if the accused so chooses. If the accused is convicted of the charges by 9 of 12 members in a secret ballot vote of the Dispute Resolution Committee's jury, he/she shall retain the right to appeal the decision in writing through judicial appeal, within five (5) working days, to the President of South Georgia State College. If the President upholds jury's decision, the accused shall retain the right to appeal the final decision, within twenty (20) working days, to the Board of Regents as a right of judicial appeal. If the Board of Regents upholds the President's decision, the student shall be removed from office and forfeit all salary and benefits. If no appeal is made by the accused to the President of South Georgia State College within five (5) working days of the jury's decision, the student shall be removed from the office.

Paragraph B: If any SGA Officer or SGA Representative loses his/her required grade-point average, while in office, he/she shall have one semester to raise his/her grades before he/she must forfeit his/her position. The student shall retain the right of judicial appeal as in paragraph A.

Paragraph C: An elected or appointed official who wishes to resign shall submit a resignation in writing to the Vice President, who shall inform the SGA at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

Paragraph D: All students who qualify as candidates for representative may apply for a vacant seat. The SGA President will fill vacancies by appointment. Appointees must meet the qualifications set forth for the respective office by the Constitution and must be approved by at least 51% of the officers and representatives of the SGA.

Paragraph E: The President of SGA may not be the president of any other student club.

Paragraph F: If it so happens that a vacancy occurs within the entire student government, the advisor may select students to represent the SGA as interim for given year until the next election.

### Article V - DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

### Section 1 - The President of the SGA shall:

- Assist in the planning and implementation of the SGA leadership retreat.
- Represent the student body in student affairs and in student relations with various constituencies of the College.
- Attend SGA meetings and SGA retreat.
- Chair all meetings of the SGA.
- Represent South Georgia State College on the University System's Student Advisory Council (SAC).
- Appoint and remove committee members from any committee with two-thirds approval of the officers and representatives of the SGA.
- Fill vacancies by appointment for any unfilled or unexpired terms of officers or representatives. Appointees must meet the qualifications set forth for the respective office by the Constitution and must be approved by at least 25% of the officers and representatives of the SGA.
- Vote only in case of a tie in SGA proceedings.
- Work with the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs to coordinate SGA-sponsored activities and to assist with other campus-wide activities involving students.
- Serve as an ex officio member of all SGA committees.
- May serve on the South Georgia State College Student Services Committee in accordance to South Georgia State College Statutes.
- Be present during the counting of ballots for representatives.
- Serve as the student representative to the South Georgia State College Foundation Board of Trustees.
- Create, with SGA approval, ad hoc committees to address issues inappropriate for the student government to act as a whole.
- Is encouraged to attend and represent the SGA at conferences, conventions and faculty or alumni meetings.

### Section 2: The Vice President shall:

- Assume the duties and powers of the President in the absence of the President or upon the request of the President.
- Attend SGA meetings and SGA retreat.
- Assume the office of President in the event the office should become vacant.
- Serve as a member of a South Georgia State College committee as assigned by the SGA President.
- Coordinate the responsibilities of all SGA committees including appointing the chairperson of each committee and overseeing the functions of all said committees.
- Undertake responsibilities and duties as may be assigned by the SGA President.
- May serve on the South Georgia State College Student Services Committee in accordance to South Georgia State College Statutes.
- Be present during the counting of ballots for representatives.

### Section 3: The Parliamentarian shall:

- Keep parliamentary order at all SGA meetings according to Robert's Rules of Order.
- Attend SGA meetings and SGA retreat.
- Be chairperson of publicity for all SGA and other student activity functions.
- Undertake responsibilities and duties as may be assigned by the SGA President.
- May serve on the South Georgia State College Student Services Committee in accordance to South Georgia State College Statutes.
- Be present during the counting of ballots for representatives.
- Ensure members of SGA are upholding Constitutional requirements.

# Section 4: The Secretary shall:

- Attend SGA meetings and SGA retreat.
- Record the minutes of all SGA meetings and provide copies to members, the SGA Advisor, and the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs five working days before the next regularly scheduled meeting.
- Handle all correspondence for the SGA.
- Perform such other duties as may be assigned by the SGA President.
- May serve on the South Georgia State College Student Services Committee in accordance to South Georgia State College Statutes.
- Be present during the counting of ballots for representatives.
- Distribute the minutes as designated by SGA President.

### Section 5: The Treasurer shall:

Attend SGA meetings and SGA retreat.

- May have access to all financial books and records concerning student activities monies and budgets.
- Submit monthly financial statement of the SGA budget to the SGA.
- May serve on the South Georgia State College Student Services Committee in accordance to South Georgia State College Statutes.
- Be present during the counting of ballots for SGA representatives.
- Be knowledgeable of student fee usage policies and ensure organization is meeting the standards of Generally Accepted Accounting Practices.

# Section 6: Representatives shall:

- Represent the student body in matters affecting student interest.
- Attend SGA meetings and SGA retreat.
- Serve on SGA committees.
- Assist in the promotion of SGA sponsored and other campus-wide activities.
- Perform such other duties as may be assigned by the SGA President.
- Be present during the counting of ballots (or tallying of votes) for officers.

### **ARTICLE VI - MEETINGS**

Section 1: The SGA shall meet at least twice a month (September through April, and at least once in December and May) at an established time and place, and at such other times as deemed necessary by the President of the SGA.

Section 2: Roberts Rules of Order as revised shall be the final authority on the parliamentary procedure observed at all meetings of the SGA when not in conflict with the provisions of this Constitution.

Section 3: All officers and representatives of the SGA shall be required to attend all meetings. Any member absent for more than two regularly scheduled meetings in one semester without an excuse satisfactory to the other officers and representatives shall be subject to removal from office by impeachment and trial under the terms of Article IV, Section 5, Paragraph A and the forfeiture of any monetary compensation and benefits.

Section 4: A quorum for SGA meetings shall consist of 51% of the active officers and representatives. No official business shall be transacted without a quorum.

Section 5: All motions pertaining to regular business shall be passed by a simple majority of officers and representatives present and voting.

Section 6: The meetings of the SGA shall be open to all members of the College community. In compliance with the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the College does not discriminate against a person with a disability. No student will be denied access to any

program, service, or to any administrator or faculty person because of the person's physical disability.

### **ARTICLE VII - COMMITTEES**

Section 1: The SGA shall be divided into various committees to assist in carrying out its functions. Committees to be established will be determined at the initial regular meeting of the SGA each fall. Committee membership shall be appointed by the SGA President with the approval of at least 51% of the SGA. No committee shall have more than six members. A Night Student Committee will be formed each fall.

Section 2: The President of the SGA, with the approval of the other officers and representatives, will recommend to the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs, students to the following College standing or ad hoc committees:

- Academic Council (2)
- Discipline Committee (2)
- Library Committee (2)

### **ARTICLE VIII - ELECTIONS**

Section 1: Elections for all SGA Executive Officers and SGA Representatives (President, Vice President, Parliamentarian, Treasurer, Secretary and Representatives) shall be held during the first or the second week in March. Voting shall be held consecutively on the first Tuesday and Wednesday of March or the second Tuesday and Wednesday of March if the first is unavailable. If voting is unable to be held the before mentioned specified days, the SGA shall determine the best available date for voting to be held.

Section 2: During the first full week of class each Spring semester, the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs shall announce the procedures and deadline for filing an application for office, the date of the candidates forum, the date of the election, and campaign guidelines.

Section 3: Candidates for SGA Executive Offices and SGA Representatives must file an application with the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs by the second Thursday in February.

Section 4: The Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs shall certify that each candidate has filed a complete application and has met the criteria for eligibility. The Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs shall also notify each candidate that he or she has met the requirements, and is eligible to participate in the candidates' forum and to begin campaign activities.

Section 5: A candidates' forum shall be held on the third Thursday in February. Each candidate for officer or representative who has been certified by the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs shall be allowed four (4) minutes to address the student body

Section 6: Campaign spending shall be limited to no more than \$100.00. Candidates must submit a list of expenditures to the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs at the completion of the election. The candidate will be responsible for all expenses incurred during the election.

Section 7: Campaigning may begin the day after applications are due to the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs. All publicity must be posted according to campus policy. No campaigning may be done within fifty feet of a public polling area. A candidate is responsible for any and all literature created on their behalf. A candidate may not put their literature over, remove, nor deface another candidate. All publicity must be removed within twenty-four hours after the closing of the polls.

Section 8: Elections shall be conducted by the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs and the SGA officers. No candidate for office may serve as an election official.

Section 9: The votes shall be counted by the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Success, the SGA Advisor, and the SGA officers. Each candidate may be present during the counting of ballots.

Section 10: In elections where there are only two candidates, the winning candidate shall be the one receiving the most votes. Should there be more than two candidates running for office, the winning candidate must receive a simple majority of the votes cast. Should no candidate receive a majority of the votes (or if there is a tie), a runoff election shall be scheduled, as soon as possible, between the top two candidates.

Section 11: Candidates' names will be placed on the ballot in order by date and time of submission.

Section 12: Ballots will be retained by the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or designee of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs for a minimum of one year following the election dates.

Section 13: Any candidate or member of the student body wishing to contest the election will have two working days after the official announcement of the election results to submit a letter specifying charges to the President of South Georgia State College, who shall render a decision as to the validity of the contesting action.

#### **ARTICLE IX - AMENDMENTS**

# Section 1: Proposal and Ratification of Amendments

Paragraph A: An amendment to this Constitution shall first be proposed by presenting a clear statement of the amendment with signatures of fifty (50) qualified voters to the SGA Secretary. A qualified voter shall be defined as any student officially enrolled in South Georgia State College and paying South Georgia State College student activity fees or any student paying South Georgia State College student activity fees.

Paragraph B: The proposed amendment must be introduced at a regular meeting of the SGA and recommended for consideration by two-thirds vote of the officers and representatives of the SGA. If approved for consideration, copies of the proposed amendment will be posted on bulletin boards and available for student body review.

Paragraph C: The proposed amendment must receive a two-thirds majority vote of approval by the officers and representatives of the SGA in order to be submitted for ratification by the student body. Then, it must be ratified by a simple majority vote of the South Georgia State College student body. Finally, it must have the approval of the President of South Georgia State College before it will become part of this SGA Constitution.

### ARTICLE X - RATIFICATION

The Constitution will become official upon a majority of the votes cast by the students of South Georgia State College and the approval of the President of South Georgia State College.

### Article XI – CONSTITUTIONAL SUPREMACY

Upon ratification, this Constitution and its associated codes shall supersede all previous governing documents, which shall be deemed null and void.

Amended November 2012, Approved March 2013.

### **APPENDIX B**

# South Georgia State College Freedom of Expression Policy

# A. Purpose and Overview of Policy

South Georgia State College ("SGSC") is committed to protecting the rights set forth in the First Amendment, which provides for freedom of speech, freedom of expression, and the right to assemble peaceably. SGSC also recognizes its responsibility to provide a secure learning environment that allows individuals enrolled at or employed by SGSC ("members of the College community") to express their views in ways that do not disrupt the operation of the College. This policy in no way prohibits members of the College community from engaging in conversations on campus and does not apply to College-sponsored activities, but rather only establishes a designated public forum on SGSC's campus and sets forth requirements for the reservation and use of the Public Forum Area in the following limited circumstances: (1) members of the College community who plan an event with 25 or more persons; and, (2) individuals or groups who are not members of the College community who wish to speak on SGSC's campus. By placing reasonable limitations on time, place, and manner of speech, SGSC does not take a position on the content or viewpoint of the expression, but allows for a diversity of viewpoints to be expressed in an academic setting.

# B. Designation of Public Forum on SGSC's Campus

To better facilitate the free exchange of ideas, SGSC has designated the following areas as "Public Forum Areas" on SGSC's campuses:

- Douglas Campus The grassy area between the Dining Hall and Tiger II
- Waycross Campus The gazebo near the James M. Dye Student Services Building

These Public Forum Areas are generally available from 9:00 a.m. until 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, provided that the areas have not previously been reserved. Though reservations to use the Public Forum Area are only required as set forth in Section C and Section D below, the College recommends that all parties interested in using the Public Forum Area submit a completed Forum Reservation Request Form to the Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success (<a href="mailto:sandra.adams@sgsc.edu">sandra.adams@sgsc.edu</a>) prior to use so that the College may minimize scheduling conflicts, accommodate all interested users, and provide for campus safety and security. Reservations will only be processed on days that SGSC's Administrative Offices are open for business ("college business days").

### C. Provisions for Members of the College Community

Members of the College community who plan to engage in expressive activity on campus in a group that is expected to consist of 25 or more persons must submit a completed Forum Reservation Request Form to the Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success two college business days prior to the scheduled activity and must receive approval in writing prior to engaging in such activity. Prior notice is required to ensure that there is sufficient space for the large group event, that necessary College resources are available for crowd control and security, and that the academic and other operations of

the College are not disrupted. The College official may grant a reservation for the Public Forum Area or another available area of campus, as requested by the applicant, and may only deny a reservation for the limited reasons set forth in Section E below.

If an individual or small group of individuals within the College community, while engaging in spontaneous expression, attracts a group of 25 or more persons, then a representative from the group should provide the College with as much notice as circumstances reasonably permit. The College reserves the right to direct a group of 25 or more persons to the Public Forum Area or another available area of campus in order to ensure the safety of campus members, to provide for proper crowd control, and to limit disruption of the academic and other operations of the College. When relocating expression, the College official must not consider or impose restrictions based on the content or viewpoint of the expression.

# **D. Provisions for Outside Speakers**

Individuals or groups of persons who are not enrolled at or employed by SGSC may only engage in expressive activity on SGSC's campuses in the Public Forum Areas and only after submitting a completed Forum Reservation Request Form to SGSC's Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success at least two college business days prior to the scheduled speech and obtaining approval for such use in writing pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section E below. Organizers are encouraged to submit their requests as early in the planning stages of the event as possible. This provision does not apply to any classroom instruction or College-sponsored events.

### E. Procedures for Forum Reservation Requests and Appeals

Completed Forum Reservation Request Forms should be submitted to SGSC's Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success at least two college business days prior to the scheduled expression. Reservation scheduling will be coordinated by a College official who will grant reservations on a first-come, first-served basis. The College official will respond to all requests as soon as possible, but in no event more than one college business day after receipt of the reservation request, either authorizing the reservation and noting any special instructions, if applicable, or setting forth the reason for denial of the reservation.

The Dean of Students of Students and Housing for Student Success may only deny a reservation request for one of the following reasons:

- 1. The Forum Reservation Request Form is not fully completed;
- 2. The Forum Reservation Request Form contains a material falsehood or misrepresentation;
- 3. The Public Forum Areas have been previously reserved, in which case the College will designate another appropriate date, time, or location to accommodate the expression;
- 4. The use or activity intended by the applicant would conflict with or disturb previously planned programs organized and conducted by the College;
- 5. The Public Forum Areas are not large enough to accommodate the expected or actual number of persons engaging in large group expression, in which case the College must provide a reservation for the applicant at an alternate location that can safely accommodate the expression provided that the applicant is a member of the College community and that such a location exists on campus of the College;

- 6. The use or activity intended by the applicant would present a danger to the health or safety of the applicant, other members of the College community, or the public; or
- 7. The use or activity intended by the applicant is prohibited by law, SGSC policy, or Board of Regents policy.

When assessing a reservation request, the College official must not consider or impose restrictions on the expression based on the content or viewpoint of the expression. Any denial of a reservation request may be appealed to the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs in writing setting forth the reasons why the appeal should be granted. The Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or their designee must respond to the appeal in writing within one college business day. The decision of the Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs or their designee is final.

### F. General Provisions

In addition to the requirements set forth above, all individuals expressing themselves on SGSC's campus must comply with the following provisions:

- Obstruction, disruption, or interference with classes, administrative functions, or other college activities or events is not permitted.
- No interference with the free flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic is permitted.
- Expression must not block access to or exit from any office, classroom, laboratory, or building.
- It is not permissible to post materials on any walls, windows, doors, sidewalks, trees, light poles, etc., or on any other college equipment without prior approval.
- Care should be taken to ensure that College and personal property is not damaged or destroyed. Malicious or unwarranted damage to or destruction of property owned or operated by the College or students, faculty, staff, or visitors to the College is prohibited. Persons or organizations causing such damage may be held financially and/or legally responsible.
- Persons expressing themselves on campus are responsible for seeing that the area is left clean and in good repair and all structures, signs, and litter resulting from any expression must be removed following the expression. If not accomplished, persons or organizations responsible may be held financially responsible for cleanup costs.
- Any use of amplified sound, other than amplified sound used in connection with College-sponsored events, must only be intended to be heard in the immediate area of the expression in order to minimize academic disruption or disruption of other College operations.
- All individuals expressing themselves on campus must comply with state, federal, and local law; municipal ordinances; SGSC policies and regulations; Board of Regents policies

and regulations; and the above guidelines and must not engage in violence or incite others to engage in violence or commit illegal or dangerous acts.

Authorization of a speech, event, or demonstration is contingent upon compliance with the criteria listed above. Speakers and/or organizations failing to comply with the above policy may be asked to leave campus and/or College disciplinary action or judicial action may be pursued.

# **Questions About SGSC's Freedom of Expression Policy**

Questions about this policy may be addressed to SGSC's Dean of Students and Housing for Student Success at 912.260.4416 or <a href="mailto:sandra.adams@sgsc.edu">sandra.adams@sgsc.edu</a>

Approved April 2017

### **APPENDIX C**

TODAY'S DATE: \_\_\_\_\_

# **South Georgia State College Forum Reservation Request Form**

Individuals who wish to or are required to submit a Forum Reservation Request Form in accordance with South Georgia State College's Freedom of Expression Policy must complete this form and submit the completed form to Sandra Adams. SGSC Dean of Students & Housing for Student Success, at <a href="mailto:sandra.adams@sgsc.edu">sandra.adams@sgsc.edu</a>. Please provide all requested information on this form, as a reservation may be denied if the form is not fully completed. A College official will respond to all requests as soon as practicable, but in no event more than one college business day following receipt of the request, either authorizing the reservation and noting any special instructions, if applicable, or setting forth the reason for denial of the reservation.

NAME OF INDIVIDUAL OR ORGANIZATION REQUEST	ING RESERVATION:
ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL OR ORGANIZATION	N:
CONTACT NUMBER OF INDIVIDUAL OR ORG	ANIZATION:
EMAIL ADDRESS FOR INDIVIDUAL OR ORGAI	NIZATION:
DETAILS FOR FORUM RESERVATION REQUEST:	
Requested Date and Start and End Time	Requested Location (Public Forum or Other Location)
(1)	
(2)	
(3)	
ANTICIPATED NUMBER OF ATTENDEES/ORGANIZAT  DESCRIPTION OF THE EVENT (attach additional page	

I HAVE READ AND AGREE THAT THE EVENT WILL COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OUTLINED		
HEREIN AND AS OUTLINED IN THE SOUTH GEORGIA STATE COLLEGE'S FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION		
POLICY, A COPY OF WHICH IS AVAILABLE IN THE SGSC STUDENT HANDBOOK (PGS. 58 – 61)		
LOCATED AT <a href="https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/student-handbook">https://www.sgsc.edu/life-at-sgsc/student-handbook</a>		
	(SIGNATURE OF PERSON COMPLETING FORM)	
	(PRINTED NAME OF PERSON COMPLETING FORM)	
For USE By SGSC Staff Only:		
Free Speech RequestConfirmed Declined		
if confirmed by College, date, time, and	d location of reservation:	
If declined, reason for decline:		
Date of Action by College Official:		
Signature of College Official:		
Printed Name of College Official:		